Science of the Total Environment 719 (2020) 135140



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

### Science of the Total Environment

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

#### Review

Sources, presence and potential effects of contaminants of emerging concern in the marine environments of the Great Barrier Reef and Torres Strait, Australia



Frederieke J. Kroon <sup>a,\*,1</sup>, Kathryn L.E. Berry <sup>a,b</sup>, Diane L. Brinkman <sup>a</sup>, Rai Kookana <sup>c</sup>, Frederic D.L. Leusch <sup>d</sup>, Steven D. Melvin <sup>d</sup>, Peta A. Neale <sup>d</sup>, Andrew P. Negri <sup>a</sup>, Marji Puotinen <sup>e</sup>, Jeffrey J. Tsang <sup>f</sup>, Jason P. van de Merwe <sup>d</sup>, Mike Williams <sup>c</sup>

<sup>b</sup> James Cook University, Townsville, QLD 4810, Australia

<sup>c</sup> CSIRO Land and Water, Adelaide, SA 5000, Australia

<sup>d</sup> Australian Rivers Institute, School of Environment and Science, Griffith University, Gold Coast, QLD 4222, Australia

<sup>e</sup> Australian Institute of Marine Science, Perth, WA 6009, Australia

<sup>f</sup>Australian Institute of Marine Science, Darwin, NT 0811, Australia

#### HIGHLIGHTS

# • We review the impacts of contaminants of emerging concern (CECs) on coral reefs.

• The sources, presence and potential effects of six CEC categories are discussed.

- Known and likely sources are relatively well known and spatial represented.
- Monitoring data and effect information for potential high risk CECs are scarce.
- The findings are relevant to tropical marine ecosystems around the world.

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 12 August 2019 Received in revised form 21 October 2019 Accepted 21 October 2019 Available online 22 November 2019

Keywords: Antifouling paint Coal dust Metals Marine debris Pharmaceuticals and personal care products Petroleum hydrocarbons

#### G R A P H I C A L A B S T R A C T

Contaminants of Emerging Concern in marine ecosystems of Great Barrier Reef and Torres Strait										
CATEGORIES:										
Antifouling paints Heavy/trace Coal dust and particles		e metals and metalloid	s Pharm	Pharmaceuticals and personal care products						
		Marine debris	Petroleum	hydrocarbons						
REVIEW:		Ì								
Known and likely sources?		Detection and conce	entrations?	Known and potential effects?						
FINDINGS:		ſ		]						
Inform futuro ocologi	ical rick accor	smonts including rolat	ivo to codimor	t nutrients and nesticides						

#### ABSTRACT

Current policy and management for marine water quality in the Great Barrier Reef (GBR) in north-eastern Australia primarily focusses on sediment, nutrients and pesticides derived from diffuse source pollution related to agricultural land uses. In addition, contaminants of emerging concern (CECs) are known to be present in the marine environments of the GBR and the adjacent Torres Strait (TS). Current and projected agricultural, urban and industrial developments are likely to increase the sources and diversity of CECs being released into these marine ecosystems. In this review, we evaluate the sources, presence and potential effects of six different categories of CECs known to be present, or likely to be present, in the GBR and TS marine ecosystems. Specifically, we summarize available monitoring, source and effect information for antifouling paints; coal dust and particles; heavy/trace metals and metalloids; marine debris and microplastics; pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs); and petroleum hydrocarbons. Our study highlights the lack of (available) monitoring data for most of these CECs, and recommends: (i) the inclusion of all relevant environmental data into integrated databases for building marine baselines for the GBR and TS regions, and (ii) the implementation of local, targeted monitoring programs informed by predictive methods for risk prioritization. Further, our spatial representation of the known

\* Corresponding author.

<sup>1</sup> Authorship in alphabetical order, except for first author and project leader.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135140 0048-9697/Crown Copyright © 2019 Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Australian Institute of Marine Science, Townsville, QLD 4810, Australia

E-mail address: f.kroon@aims.gov.au (F.J. Kroon).

and likely sources of these CECs will contribute to future ecological risk assessments of CECs to the GBR and TS marine environments, including risks relative to those identified for sediment, nutrients and pesticides.

Crown Copyright © 2019 Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Sources of contaminants to the Great Barrier reef and Torres Strait	3
3.	Contaminants of emerging concern	5
	3.1. Antifouling paints	5
	3.2. Coal dust and particles	7
	3.3. Heavy/trace metals and metalloids	8
	3.4. Marine debris	10
	3.5. Pharmaceuticals and personal care products	11
	3.6. Petroleum hydrocarbons	13
4.	Synthesis	. 14
	4.1. Areas of further research	15
	4.1.1. Identify potential high-risk CECs for targeted monitoring	15
	4.1.2. Integrate monitoring data into publicly available databases	15
	4.1.3. Derive guideline values for tropical marine environments	15
	4.1.4. Assess the ecological risk of priority CECs	16
	Declaration of Competing Interest	. 16
	Acknowledgements	. 16
	Appendix A. Supplementary data	. 16
	References	. 16

#### 1. Introduction

Contaminants of emerging concern (CECs) have been defined as 'naturally occurring, manufactured or manmade chemicals or materials which have now been discovered or are suspected [to be] present in various environmental compartments and whose toxicity or persistence are likely to significantly alter the metabolism of a living being' (Sauvé and Desrosiers, 2014). The potential to pose risk to the environment means that CECs include contaminants that have been detected in the environment only recently (i.e. emerging contaminants) (Gavrilescu et al., 2015; Geissen et al., 2015), contaminants that are present in the environment and have become of recent concern (i.e. contaminants of emerging interest), and more wellrecognized contaminants for which new information on environmental risk has become available (i.e. traditional contaminants) (Sauvé and Desrosiers, 2014). Consequently, CECs comprise a large variety of chemicals belonging to diverse classes and can be categorized in multiple ways depending on their chemical structure and/or mode of action (Borgert et al., 2004). For example, the US EPA lists persistent organic pollutants (POPs), pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs), veterinary medicines, endocrine-disrupting chemicals (EDCs) and nanomaterials as CECs (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Emerging Contaminants Workgroup, 2008). Other studies also consider lifestyle compounds, such as caffeine and nicotine, illicit (recreational) drugs (Robles-Molina et al., 2014) and, more recently, microplastics (Sedlak, 2017) to be CECs. The sources of CECs are as diverse as the chemicals themselves (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Emerging Contaminants Workgroup, 2008), and include point sources such as urban and industrial wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs), and diffuse sources such as agricultural land uses for animal and crop production (Geissen et al., 2015). Because CECs can potentially cause deleterious effects in aquatic organisms at environmentally relevant concentrations (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Emerging Contaminants Workgroup, 2008), understanding their transport, fate and effects has received widespread attention in receiving freshwater, coastal and marine environments (Gavrilescu et al., 2015; Islam and Tanaka, 2004; Pal et al., 2010).

The Great Barrier Reef (GBR) extends over 2,000 km along the northeast coast of Australia (Fig. 1a), covering an area of 348,000 km<sup>2</sup> that includes 20,000 km<sup>2</sup> of coral reefs, 43,000 km<sup>2</sup> of seagrass meadows and extensive mangrove forests (GBRMPA, 2014). The GBR is managed as a multiple-use marine protected area, allowing for commercial and non-commercial uses such as commercial marine tourism; commercial, recreational and indigenous fishing; ports and shipping; and defence activities (GBRMPA, 2014). Over the past decades, the condition of GBR ecosystems has shown severe decline (De'ath et al., 2012; Hughes et al., 2017) and continues to be at risk from climate change, poor water quality, coastal development and fishing pressure (GBRMPA, 2014). Although not part of the GBR Marine Park or World Heritage Area (WHA), the reef's ecosystems extend into the Torres Strait (TS) region bordering Papua New Guinea (Lawrey and Stewart, 2016) (Fig. 1a), and support locally important commercial and indigenous fisheries (Plaganyi et al., 2013). The TS marine ecosystems are exposed to immense freshwater and sediment input from nearby coastal rivers in Papua New Guinea (Wolanski et al., 2013) and to intense international shipping activities transiting between the Indian and Pacific Oceans (Det Norske Veritas Ltd, 2013).

Current policy and management for marine water quality in the GBR Marine Park and WHA focusses primarily on sediment, nutrients and pesticides derived from diffuse source pollution related to agricultural land uses (Brodie et al., 2012; Kroon et al., 2016). Other contaminants, including ones that could be considered CECs, have been detected in the marine ecosystems of the GBR and TS such as antifouling paints (Haynes et al., 2002; Haynes and Loong, 2002), coal dust and particles (GHD Pty Ltd, 2012a), marine debris (Hardesty et al., 2016; Haynes, 1997) and microplastics (Hall et al., 2015; Kroon et al., 2018; Reisser et al., 2013), heavy/trace metals and metalloids (Haynes and Johnson, 2000; Haynes and Kwan, 2002; Negri et al., 2009) and petroleum hydrocarbons



**Fig. 1.** The location of the Great Barrier Reef (GBR) and Torres Strait marine ecosystems along the northeast coast of Australia, including (A) major population centres, rivers, and seven natural resource management regions that overlap with these ecosystems, and (B) main agricultural production land uses, as well as conservation and natural environment land uses in the adjacent catchment area. Spatial data were sourced from the GBR Marine Park Authority, the Queensland Department of Natural Resources and Mines, and the Queensland Land Use Mapping Program (accessed April 2017) (Queensland Government, 2017b). Land use data were classified according to the Australian Land Use and Management Classification Version 8 (ABARES, 2016) (see Supplementary Material Text S1 for more detail).

(Haynes and Johnson, 2000). In addition, pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) have been detected in treated domestic wastewater discharged into coastal waters adjacent to the GBR (O'Brien et al., 2014). Although the sources of these six categories of CECs are relatively well understood, little is known about their transport, fate and effects on the GBR and TS marine ecosystems. Importantly, current and projected agricultural, urban and industrial developments are likely to increase the sources and diversity of contaminants being released into these marine ecosystems (Det Norske Veritas Ltd, 2013; GBRMPA, 2014).

In this review, we evaluated the sources, presence and potential effects of six different categories of CECs known to be present, or likely to be present in GBR and TS marine ecosystems. The six categories of CECs to review were prioritized based on outcomes of a one-day workshop with the project team, end users and key stakeholders in 2015 (Kroon et al., 2015). Specifically, we (i) determined the presence and locations of these CECs based on available monitoring data and the types of human activities present, and (ii) examined the potential effects of these CECs on the marine ecosystems based on general mode of action and organisms likely to be exposed. As many of the known or likely sources for these six different categories of CECs are the same, we first described and spatially represented these sources in and adjacent to the GBR and TS marine ecosystems. Then, for each of the six different categories of CECs, we defined and described the individual CEC category, and summarized available source, monitoring and effect information from the primary scientific literature and from available grey literature and databases. Our evaluation was conducted at the scale of the GBR and TS marine ecosystems, as well as at the scale of seven individual natural resource management (NRM) regions that overlap with these ecosystems and are managed by regional NRM bodies responsible for protecting and managing Australia's natural resources (Fig. 1a). Based on our findings, we made recommendations to improve future ecological risk assessments of CECs to the GBR and TS marine ecosystems.

## 2. Sources of contaminants to the Great Barrier reef and Torres Strait

The decline in GBR water quality is associated with substantial increases in terrestrial pollutant fluxes (Bartley et al., 2017; Kroon et al., 2012), following the conversion of most of the 423,000 km<sup>2</sup> catchment (~80%) into agricultural production since the 1850 s (Brodie et al., 2012; Waters et al., 2014) (Fig. 1b). In addition to rangeland cattle grazing, forestry, horticulture and cropping (Fig. 1b), at least 500 intensive animal farming facilities are present in the GBR catchment including beef cattle feedlots, pig and poultry farms, dairy sheds and yards, and aquaculture facilities (Department of the Environment and Energy, 2019; Queensland Government, 2017b) (Fig. 2d). Other known and likely sources of contaminants to the GBR and TS marine environments include urban residential areas (via stormwater runoff), waste treatment and disposal, mining, industrial areas, ports and shipping, and



**Fig. 2.** Sources of contaminants to the Great Barrier Reef and Torres Strait marine ecosystems, including (A) urban, rural, and remote residential areas and associated waste treatment and disposal, (B) mining activity and abandoned mines, (C) manufacturing and industrial areas, (D) intensive animal production, and (E) acid sulfate soils, in the adjacent catchment area. Spatial data for (A–D) were sourced from the Queensland Land Use Mapping Program (\*; accessed April 2017) (Queensland Government, 2017b) and the National Pollutant Inventory (\*; accessed May 2019) (Department of the Environment and Energy, 2019), and classified according to the Australian Land Use and Management Classification Version 8 (ABARES, 2016) and the Australian and New Zealand Standard Industrial Classification (Trewin and Pink, 2006), respectively (see Supplementary Material Text S1 for more detail). Spatial data on abandoned mines and acid sulfate soils were sourced from Queensland Department of Natural Resources and Mines and the Queensland Department of Science, Information Technology and Innovation (both accessed April 2017), respectively. Other data sources and descriptions as presented in Fig. 1.



**Fig. 3.** Sources of contaminants to the Great Barrier Reef and Torres Strait marine ecosystems, including observed vessel traffic associated with (A) commercial shipping (maximum value 93,560), (B) commercial fisheries shipping (maximum value 40,019), (C) commercial and recreational marine tourism (maximum value 23,721), and (D) Defence activities within the GBR and TS marine environments (maximum value 3,197), as well as (E) vessel groundings and spills that caused significant damage to coral reef habitat and environments in the GBR Marine Park, in 2016. Observed vessel traffic was extracted from the Craft Tracking System database downloaded from the Australian Maritime Safety Authority (AMSA) website for each month in 2016 (accessed May 2017) (see Supplementary Material Text S1 for more detail). Vessel groundings and spills data were sourced from the Maritime Incidents Database 2016 [unpublished data], GBR Marine Park Authority, Townsville. The location of ports and designated port anchorages were sourced from the four Government-owned Port Corporations, namely North Queensland Bulk Ports Corporation, Port of Townsville Limited, Gladstone Port Corporation, and Ports North (accessed April 2017). Location of marinas were sourced from Queensland Department of Natural Resources and Mines (accessed May 2017). Defence facilities on land were extracted from the Queensland Land Use Mapping Program (accessed April 2017). Defence exclusion zones at sea were derived from the dataset 'Defence Prohibited and Training Areas' (© Copyright Commonwealth of Australia (Department of Defence) 2015). Other data sources and descriptions as presented in Fig. 1.

defence activities. The current population of northern Queensland exceeds 1.2 million people, with the majority living in Townsville (194,000 people), Cairns (160,000), Mackay (124,000), and Bundaberg (94,000), Rockhampton (84,000) and Gladstone (67,000); <5,000 people live in the Torres Strait region (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2017) (Fig. 2a). This population is serviced by >50 operational WWTPs that discharge into rivers connected to the GBR marine environment (Hill et al., 2012), and at least 32 landfills that take waste from household, business and construction activities (Queensland Government, 2017b) (Fig. 2a). The population in the GBR catchment and on Torres Strait islands is projected to increase from 2011 to 2035 (Queensland Government, 2016c), with a forecasted annual growth of 1.6% for the GBR catchment (GBRMPA, 2014).

The GBR catchment is rich in mineral and energy (i.e. coal) resources and has long supported diverse mining activities (GBRMPA, 2014) (Fig. 2b). Oueensland has > 15,000 abandoned mines with many occurring in the GBR catchment and a few in the TS (Queensland Government, 2016a) (Fig. 2b). More than 50 coal mines currently operate in Queensland with further largescale coal mines being proposed in the GBR catchment (Department of Natural Resources and Mines, 2017a). Discharges from the Fly River (impacted by mining) and other, smaller coastal rivers flowing from Papua New Guinea also contribute contaminants and sediments to northern and north-central regions of the TS (Gladstone, 1996; Haynes and Kwan, 2002; Heap and Sbaffi, 2008). Metal-related industries such as refineries are located in industrial areas near urban centres and ports such as Gladstone and Townsville (Department of State Development Infrastructure and Planning, 2014; Department of the Environment and Energy, 2019). Manufacturing and industrial areas (with the exception of mining) are not extensive but can be intensive at a local scale (Fig. 2c). In combination, facilities like mines, power stations and factories emit a range of contaminants into different environmental compartments, including air, land and water (Department of the Environment and Energy, 2019).

A total of 14 commercial ports are located on the coasts of the GBR and TS (Fig. 3a), with Abbot Point, Hav Point and Gladstone being among the largest coal export ports in the world (Department of Transport and Main Roads, 2016). In 2012-13, almost 11,000 movements of large commercial ships (length > 50 m) were monitored, with 94% of the 4,440 vessel arrivals berthing at the five major ports (Abbot Point, Cairns, Gladstone, Hay Point, Townsville) (North-East Shipping Management Group, 2014) (Fig. 3a). Movements of large vessels within the GBR and TS are highly regulated and managed, with designated routes, both inside the lagoon and between reefs to the outer routes in the Coral Sea (GBRMPA, 2014) (Fig. 3a). It is estimated up to 90% of the cargo tonnage transported from the north-east region comprises coal (Braemer Seascope, 2013; North-East Shipping Management Group, 2014). Shipping traffic was projected to increase ~2.6-fold by 2032 (based on 2011-12 numbers) (Braemer Braemer Seascope, 2013; PGM Environment, 2012), depending on future trade and marketing opportunities (Det Norske Veritas Ltd, 2013; North-East Shipping Management Group, 2014). Average vessel size of bulk carriers is also projected to increase from 2011 to 2025 (Braemer Seascope, 2013). The total anchorage area for bulk cargo and other trading vessels at the five larger ports adds to 2.881 km<sup>2</sup>, with the area of Hav Point  $(1.573 \text{ km}^2)$  being the busiest (GHD Pty Ltd, 2013). At this area, 720 ships proceed to anchor each year with up to 60 ships anchored at any one time; ships can be at anchor for up to two months with an average stay of 19 days (GHD Pty Ltd, 2013). In addition, 83,000 privately registered recreational vessels and 485 commercial fishing trawlers were operating in the GBR and TS regions in 2012-13 (North-East Shipping Management Group, 2014) (Fig. 3b, c). Commercial marine tourism in the GBR is predominantly vessel based, with >80% of day visits in 2013 concentrated in the Cairns and Whitsunday Planning Areas (GBRMPA, 2014) (Fig. 3c). The number of reported ship collisions and groundings in the GBR WHA ranges from zero to five per year since 1985 (GBRMPA, 2014) (Fig. 3e). All reported collisions were between ships and smaller vessels, while groundings include those within designated port areas (GBRMPA, 2014). Under current management arrangements in the GBR WHA, groundings of large vessels are predicted to occur once every 10 years (GBRMPA, 2014).

The Australian Defence Force operates and trains in the GBR and TS regions, including Australian Navy, Army and Air Force bases at Cairns and Townsville, and designated defence training areas on land, in the air and at sea (GBRMPA, 2014; PGM Environment and Eco Logical Australia, 2014) (Fig. 3d). Operational activities include ocean surveillance, maritime search and rescue missions. and hydrographic survey and charting. Two training areas, namely the Townsville Star and the Shoalwater Bay Training Area, are among the largest in Australia. The biennial Talisman Sabre exercises, a bilateral combined Australian and United States of America training activity, are held in the GBR with the majority of exercise activities taking place in the Shoalwater Bay Training Area (Department of Defence, 2019a). Both operational and training activities by the Australian Defence Force in the GBR region are expected to increase in the near future (GBRMPA, 2014; PGM Environment and Eco Logical Australia, 2014).

#### 3. Contaminants of emerging concern

#### 3.1. Antifouling paints

An 'antifouling system' (or antifoul) is defined as 'a coating, paint, surface treatment, surface, or device that is used on a ship to control or prevent attachment of unwanted organisms' (International Maritime Organization, 2005). Antifouling paints for use on ships' hulls generally contain metal oxides including copper (CuO), iron (FeO) or zinc (ZnO), and previously also arsenic and mercury (Almeida et al., 2007; Yebra et al., 2004). Copper is still widely used in antifouling paints although its application is being increasingly regulated following concerns about environmental impacts (Dafforn et al., 2011). Recent work has examined the use of CuO and ZnO nanoparticles in antifouling paints (Al-Fori et al., 2014; Anyaogu et al., 2008). Organic booster compounds (i.e. biocides) are added to antifouling paints to improve their efficacy (Almeida et al., 2007; Yebra et al., 2004). The detrimental environmental impacts of organotins such as tributyltin (TBT) resulted in the adoption of the International Convention on the Control of Harmful Anti-Fouling Systems on Ships (the AFS Convention) in 2001 (International Maritime Organization, 2005). In Australia, the Convention is being enacted under the Protection of the Sea (Harmful Anti-fouling Systems) Act 2006 (Australian Government, 2013)<sup>2</sup>. TBT, however, remains a CEC as TBT-based antifoulants (over-painted with contemporary coatings) are highly likely to be present on many ships traversing the GBR. This was highlighted by the severe TBT contamination of reef sediment following the grounding of the bulk coal carrier Shen Neng 1 in the GBR in 2010 (GBRMPA, 2011). Following the adoption of the AFS Convention in 2001 (International Maritime Organization, 2005), eighteen compounds are currently used globally as antifouling biocides, namely benzmethylamide, clorothalonil, copper pyrithione (CuPT), DCOIT (Sea-Nine 211), dichlofluanid, diuron, fluorofolpet, Irgarol 1051, Mancozeb, Polyphase, TCMS pyridine, TCMTB, thiram, Tolylfluanid,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This Act stipulates that (i) organotin compounds that act as a biocide in an antifouling system are not to be applied to a ship in Australia, and (ii) non-complying ships are not to enter or remain in shipping facilities (i.e. a port, a shipyard, or an offshore terminal) in Australia.

#### Table 1

Land- and water-based sources for six different categories of contaminants of concern (CEC) known to be present, or likely to be present in the Great Barrier Reef (GBR) and Torres Strait (TS) marine ecosystems. Crosses indicate known or likely sources for each category of CEC, with shading indicating monitoring information exists (light grey) or does not exist (dark grey) for the GBR and TS regions. Empty cells indicate that a CEC is unlikely to be derived from a particular source. See Supplementary material for detailed monitoring information for each of the six CEC categories.

Sources	Antifouling paints	Coal dust and particles	Heavy/trace metals and metalloids	Marine debris	Pharmaceuticals and personal care products	Petroleum hydrocarbons
Agricultural land uses			х	х	x	x
Aquaculture	х		х	х	х	
Acid sulfate soils			х			
Urban land uses			х	х	х	х
Landfills			х	х	х	х
Wastewater treatment plants			х	х	х	
Mines (abandoned and current)		х	х			
Manufacturing and industrial areas			х	x		х
Commercial ports	х	х	х	x		х
Port anchorage areas	х		х	х	х	x
Marinas	х		х	x		х
Coastal/marine tourism	х		х	х	х	х
Shipping lanes	х		х	х	х	х
Shipping incidents	х	х	х	х		х
Shipping groundings	Х	Х	х			х

triphenylborane-pyridine, zinc pyrithione (ZnPT), zineb, and ziram (Almeida et al., 2007; Dafforn et al., 2011; Konstantinou and Albanis, 2004; Thomas, 2001; Voulvoulis et al., 1999; Yebra et al., 2004). Of these eighteen, seven (namely benzmethylamide, DCOIT (Sea-Nine 211), fluorofolpet, Irgarol 1051, polyphase, TCMS pyridine, and triphenylborane-pyridine) have not been registered or approved for use in Australia (Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority, 2015).

The main source of antifoulant in the GBR and TS marine ecosystems is shipping, principally large (>50 m) commercial and military vessels, commercial fishing and tourism boats, and recreational vessels (Table 1). Leaching and release of antifouling components from large vessels will occur while underway along shipping lanes, anchored in anchorage areas, and at berth in port (Fig. 3a-d). This could tally to substantial amounts, based on a total Cu leach flux of around 0.8 to 3.2 kg per day for an average bulk carrier for GBR coal ports (PGM Environment, 2012). It is likely to be much less for smaller vessels, but in high use areas such as marinas and ports could still be locally significant and contribute to the overall load of metals and biocides (Havnes and Loong, 2002). Catastrophic contamination of coral reefs in the GBR with antifouling components has occurred following groundings of large vessels (Fig. 3e), such as the New Reach in 1999, the Bunga Teratai Satu in 2000, and the Shen Neng I in 2010 (GBRMPA, 2011; Haynes et al., 2002; Haynes and Loong, 2002). This resulted in the release of antifouling components (including copper and TBT) several magnitudes higher than Australian and New Zealand default guidelines values (DGVs)<sup>3</sup> for sediment and marine water quality (ANZG, 2018) (Table S1). The effects of antifoul contamination may spread well beyond the ship grounding site depending on sediment transport and the mixing of local waters. The grounding of the Bunga Teratai Satu in 2000 was followed by extensive mitigation efforts to reduce the levels and extent of antifouling contamination (Marshall et al., 2002). More recently, the Shen Neng I caused the largest ship grounding scar (approximately 400,000 m<sup>2</sup>) on the GBR resulting in severe contamination of the site with Cu, Zn and TBT (GBRMPA, 2011). Remediation is only just starting with an expected completion date of around 2022 (GBRMPA, 2019a). Ongoing monitoring has not occurred (or data are not publicly available) at any ship grounding site in the GBR or TS to determine the longer-term impacts of antifoul contamination, the effectiveness of any cleanup operations, and/or the potential for recovery of reef ecosystems.

In addition to shipping, antifouling paints are used on other marine infrastructure such as tourism-related structures (e.g. pontoons, jetties, underwater observatories, moorings) (GBRMPA, 2014). Further, antifouling paints are also used in commercial aquaculture operations (Fitridge et al., 2012) (Table 1, Fig. 2d), though no Queensland-specific information exists.

Components of antifouling paints, including metal oxides, TBT, and other booster biocides, have been detected in water and sediment of marine ecosystems in the GBR region (Table 1, S1a, b). Monitoring data for Cu, Zn as well as metals not associated with antifouling components is presented in section 3.3 ('Heavy/trace metals and metalloids'). A 1999 survey for the antifouling components Cu and TBT detected both in sediment at commercial harbours and mainland marinas, and Cu was detected at mooring sites at both mid-shelf islands and the outer reef (Haynes and Loong, 2002). More recent monitoring programs, associated with dredging and port developments, have demonstrated that TBT is still present in the water column and/or sediment in the five main ports (Department of Environment and Heritage Protection, 2012b; GHD Pty Ltd, 2005; Jones et al., 2005; Port Curtis Integrated Monitoring Program Inc., 2016; Port of Townsville Limited et al., 2013; Ports North, 2015). Exceedances of the DGVs for marine water quality for 95% species protection (0.006 µg Sn L<sup>-1</sup>) and sediment quality (9  $\mu$ g Sn kg<sup>-1</sup> dry weight, normalized to 1% organic carbon content) (ANZG, 2018) have been reported repeatedly for the 95% upper confidence limit (UCL) for TBT in water and sediment in Trinity Inlet (Cairns Port) (Ports North, 2015). Maximum TBT concentrations of individual sediment samples have exceeded the sediment DGV in all main ports (GHD Pty Ltd, 2005; GHD Pty Ltd, 2012c; Mortimer, 2004; Port of Townsville Limited et al., 2013; Ports North, 2015), except Gladstone (Department of Environment and Heritage Protection, 2012b). The biocides diuron

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Guideline values to assess the quality of water and sediment for aquatic ecosystem protection are an integral component of the Water Quality Management Framework. This Framework 'provides users with a systematic approach to the management and assessment of water quality' for natural and semi-natural water resources. In the absence of more relevant guideline values, default guideline values can provide a generic starting point for the assessment of water and sediment quality.

and Irgarol 1051 have been detected in areas exposed to shipping (Ports North, 2015; Scarlett et al., 1999), with diuron regularly detected in sediment in Cairns Port with a maximum concentration of 5  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> (Ports North, 2015). Monitoring information could not be found for the TS marine ecosystems or for biocides other than TBT, diuron and Irgarol 1051. Overseas studies suggest that at least some of these other biocides (e.g. Sea-Nine 211, dichlofluanid, chlorothalonil) are likely to be present including in ports, marinas and estuaries (Konstantinou and Albanis, 2004).

The effects of both acute and chronic exposures to antifouling paints have been examined for some GBR marine organisms. Toxicity of antifouling paints to hard and soft corals was observed near the grounding scar of the Bunga Teratai Satu on Sudbury Reef (Marshall et al., 2002). Laboratory exposures to Cu, Zn and TBT concentrations detected at GBR ship grounding sites found a significant reduction in coral fertilization and larval metamorphosis (Negri and Heyward, 2001: Reichelt-Brushett and Harrison, 2005: Victor and Richmond, 2005), coral recruitment (Negri et al., 2002), and major mortality of newly settled and coral branchlets (Smith et al., 2003). Comparable exposures in the field may thus delay the recovery of the resident coral community for many years unless the paint is removed (Negri et al., 2002; Smith et al., 2003). Acute exposure to the triazine herbicide Irgarol 1051 concentrations reflecting those detected in Caribbean marinas, harbours and coastal waters showed a reduction in photosynthesis of corals (Owen et al., 2002). Similarly, significant inhibition of photosynthesis was observed in coral symbionts exposed to environmentally relevant concentrations of diuron and Irgarol 1051 (Owen et al., 2003). More recent ecotoxicological tests on sub-tropical marine organisms showed that the effects of CuPT were comparable to that of TBT, while Irgarol 1051 was more toxic to autotrophic species than TBT (Bao et al., 2011).

Chronic exposure to antifouling paints has resulted in bioaccumulation of various biocides in marine plants and animals of GBR marine ecosystems (Table S1c). The biocide Irgarol 1051 was detected in seagrass tissue at concentrations considered to be potentially toxic in four of the five locations sampled along the GBR coast in 1997 (Scarlett et al., 1999). Butyltins were detected in muscle and liver tissue from silver trevally (Caranx sexfasciatus), stripey (Lutjanus earponotatus), black pomfret (Apolectus niger) and squid (Loligo chinensis) collected around Townsville in 1992 (Kannan et al., 1995). Bioaccumulation of TBT in oysters (scientific name not given) has been reported in Rosslyn Bay (Keppel Island), Cairns Port, and Gladstone Port (Mortimer, 2004). Around Port Curtis, TBT enrichment has been reported in oysters (Saccostrea spp.) and mud whelks (Telescopium telescopium) (Jones et al., 2005), with imposex being up to 43% in the whelk Morula marginalba in certain areas (Andersen, 2004). Corals are also sensitive to chronic, longer term exposures to low concentrations of TBT, diuron and Irgarol 1051 throughout their life history (Jones and Kerswell, 2003; Negri and Marshall, 2009; Watanabe et al., 2006). Diuron is also more commonly detected in the GBR lagoon as an agricultural contaminant and can affect all phototrophs, including seagrass at concentrations as low as 0.3  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (Negri et al., 2015).

In summary, antifouling components including metal oxides (Cu, Zn) and biocides (TBT, diuron, Irgarol 1051) were reported in GBR marine ecosystems (Table S1a, b, c), including a biocide that has never been registered for use in Australia (Irgarol 1051). Recent monitoring has shown that TBT is still present in the water column and/or sediment in the five main ports, with overseas studies suggesting that other biocides are likely to be present. Locations where concentrations of metals and TBT exceeded DGVs for marine water quality and sediment quality include sites of ship groundings and coastal harbours. Given its phase-out the entry of TBT into the environment should eventually disappear but will remain a legacy issue for some time yet. In contrast, metal oxides are still being

used in antifouling components, released into the environment and likely accumulating in marine sediments. Disturbance of these sediments through activities such as dredging, ship movement, anchorage activity and cyclonic events, can thus be a potential source of toxic metals and legacy TBT. The lack of monitoring at GBR grounding sites following clean-up or no clean-up means that the long-term impacts of exposure to extreme concentrations of antifouling components are currently unknown. Designated port anchorages for bulk cargo and other trading vessels are also likely to contain elevated levels of metals and biocides, but monitoring information is not available for these areas. Given the substantial amounts of antifouling components that are leached continuously by bulk carriers along shipping lanes, at anchor, and at berth in port, as well as to a lesser extent around tourist and fishing areas. chronic exposure is likely to occur continuously throughout the year. This is of concern for habitat forming species such as coral and seagrass, and species for human consumption such as ovster. squid and fish.

#### 3.2. Coal dust and particles

Coal is a combustible sedimentary rock which contains variable amounts and combinations of organic and inorganic constituents including polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and trace elements (e.g. Cd, Cu), respectively (Ward, 1984). Unburnt coal can be a potential source of these contaminants via leaching processes upon contact with water (Cheam et al., 2000), however, this process is highly variable. Trace metals and hydrocarbons are presented in more detail in sections 3.3 ('Heavy/trace metals and metalloids') and 3.6 ('Petroleum hydrocarbons'). The different types/ranks of coal vary in chemical composition and thus their energy content, use, and the potential for biological effects are different (Ahrens and Morrisey, 2005). Over the last three decades there has been a strong growth in Australia's mining sector due to global demand for coal and minerals. This growth stimulated increases in coastal development along the GBR, particularly related to port infrastructure and shipping activities (Grech et al., 2013). Australia is currently ranked first in global seaborne coal exports, with the country's largest reserves (~34 billion tonnes) found within Queensland (Department of Natural Resources and Mines, 2017b). Coal is transported by rail to the ports of Abbot Point, Gladstone, and Hay Point, all situated adjacent to the GBR WHA (Fig. 3a). Queensland coal exports through these three ports totalled 203 million tonnes for 2017 (Queensland Government, 2017a).

Unburnt coal enters the marine environment via a range of pathways such as the natural erosion of coal seams, and anthropogenic inputs during various stages of coal processing such as disposal of colliery waste, wind and water erosion of open coal stockpiles, accidental spillage, and coal carrier collisions and groundings (Ahrens and Morrisey, 2005) (Table 1). Colliery waste can enter river systems during major rainfall events when mines flood. In the GBR's Fitzroy River basin, all but two of the approximately 39 coal mines are permitted to discharge water under different environmental release conditions (Department of Environment and Resource Management, 2009). The likelihood of chronic coal exposure in the GBR marine ecosystems is greatest near the large coal export ports (Abbot Point, Gladstone, Hav Point) (Fig. 3a), where coal is stockpiled, conveyed and transferred. These coal stockpiles are not covered and coal dust and particles have the potential to be released into marine environments directly during windy conditions (GHD Pty Ltd, 2012a), cyclones (Department of Science Information Technology and Innovation, 2017) or heavy monsoonal rainfall (Queensland Government, 2019a). The concentrations of total suspended solids in stormwater runoff from coastal coal stockpiles into wetlands has been reported to be as high as 33 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and 80 mg L<sup>-1</sup> in separate events (Department of Science Information Technology and Innovation, 2017; Queensland Government, 2019a). During a 2017 cyclone, concentrations as high as 800 mg L<sup>-1</sup> have been reported entering coastal waters adjacent to the GBR (Department of Science Information Technology and Innovation, 2017; Queensland Government, 2018). The total loads of suspended solids in these runoff events discharged into coastal waters are unknown. At Abbot Point, coal dust generation during offloading and accidental spillage during transfer activities has a probability of 95 to 100% to occur throughout a year (GHD Pty Ltd, 2012a), although no information about the actual amount lost is presented. Once in the marine environment, larger coal particles will settle close to the input source, while smaller particles have the potential to be carried long distances by currents (Jaffrennou et al., 2007; Johnson and Bustin, 2006). Oceanographic modelling suggests that coal particles on the ocean surface from coastal waters near Abbot Point could reach coral reefs off Mackay within three months under the influence of realistic wind conditions, tides and the East Australian Current (Andutta and Wolanski, 2012). Hence, an unknown proportion of the chronic coal contamination of waters in Queensland ports has the potential to migrate into GBR WHA waters. Chronic coal contamination is less likely in TS marine ecosystems due to their distance from coal port terminals. In the case of a collision or grounding (Fig. 3e), coal carriers could lose > 70,000 tonnes of coal (GBRMPA, 2011), representing a substantial potential source of coal to the marine environment.

Coal particles have been reported in sediments of port areas and adjacent coastal environments (e.g. wetlands) along the GBR coast (Table 1, S2). However, there is limited targeted monitoring and publicly available data relating to coal particles in GBR and TS marine ecosystems. For example, coal particles were not monitored in the Fitzroy River water quality assessment after the 2008 flood event (Tripodi and Limpus, 2010). Port development monitoring programs have measured sediment quality, including percentage coal particles, within coal ports and found varying sizes of coal particles in sediment samples in the proximity of loading facilities at Abbot Point (Toki et al., 2012; WBM, 2005). Coal particle concentrations ranged from nil at two reference sites 800 m east and west of the jetty, to <1 to 7% outside the berth area, and up to 45% below the coal-loading wharf. Surface sediments in wetlands adjacent to the Abbot Point coal stockpile contained up to 10% coal following a major cyclone-related discharge (Department of Science Information Technology and Innovation, 2017). PAHs with a pattern characteristic of coal have been measured in sediments and sediment traps in the central GBR region off the coast from Mackay and the Port of Hay Point coal terminals. Nearshore sediments contained the highest concentrations (~100–300  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> total PAHs), while offshore sediments as far as the continental shelf break contained PAHs with the same profile but at lower concentrations (Burns and Brinkman, 2011). Detection of elevated PAH concentrations (approximately 2,000  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> total PAHs) in sediment traps adjacent to midshelf reefs 65-85 nautical miles offshore (Burns and Brinkman, 2011) suggests the potential for widespread, albeit diluted transport within the GBR lagoon. However, hydrocarbon markers are not necessarily bioavailable or quantitatively correlated with coal particle contamination due to differences and uncertainties in leaching rates, transport and degradation.

The exposure and effects of both large coal spills and chronic coal inputs on marine organisms are largely unknown. Physical and/or chemical characteristics of coal particles have the potential to affect marine organisms (e.g. block light, clog, smother, etc.) (Ahrens and Morrisey, 2005). Accumulation of coal dust onto the upper and lower leaf/branch surfaces and trunks of mangroves growing around South Africa's largest coal-exporting port reduced photosynthesis by 17 to 39% (Naidoo and Chirkoot, 2004).

Controlled laboratory exposures of three taxa commonly found within the GBR (the hard coral Acropora tenuis, the reef fish Acanthochromis polyacanthus, the seagrass Halodule uninervis) to a wide range of coal concentrations over 28 d caused lethal effects in corals at relatively high concentrations  $\geq$  38 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (Berry et al., 2016). Reduced growth rates were reported for fish and seagrass at concentrations of 38 and 73 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. Numerous early life history processes of the coral A. tenuis, such as fertilization and larval settlement, were substantially impaired by controlled exposures to a range of coal particle concentrations and scenarios (Berry et al., 2017). In contrast, coal leachate exposures during fertilization and larval settlement, and smothering of juvenile corals by coal had minimal effects. In general, studies on coal leachates report low concentrations of leached constituents and negligible bioavailability over relatively short periods (Bender et al., 1987; Berry et al., 2017: Jaffrennou et al., 2007).

In summary, coal particles and hydrocarbon markers potentially associated with coal particle contamination were detected in sediment nearby coal loading facilities at Abbot Point and in sediments of the central GBR, respectively. Monitoring information, however, is scarce despite the high likelihood of coal dust and particle generation at coal export ports (Abbot Point, Hay Point, Gladstone) and the large amount of coal exported annually through the GBR. The few studies that examined the effects of coal contamination on marine organisms suggest that the physical presence of coal particles is more detrimental than exposure to contaminants leached from coal. While these studies have identified thresholds for harm of coal particles to tropical marine species, the lack of available monitoring data makes assessing the risks posed by coal dust and particles to the GBR and TS marine ecosystems difficult to ascertain.

#### 3.3. Heavy/trace metals and metalloids

Heavy/trace metals (hereafter metals) and metalloids occur naturally in rocks and soils; they enter the aquatic environment through weathering, erosion and atmospheric deposition. Human activities can augment the burden of metals [e.g. aluminium (Al). cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr), cobalt (Co), copper (Cu), gallium (Ga), iron (Fe), lead (Pb), manganese (Mn), mercury (Hg), molybdenum (Mo), nickel (Ni), silver (Ag), tin (Sn), vanadium (V) and zinc (Zn)] and metalloids [e.g. antimony (Sb), arsenic (As) and selenium (Se)] in the environment (Stumm and Morgan, 1996). The presence of metals and metalloids in the water column usually reflects recent inputs, with many readily attaching to suspended particles and ultimately accumulating in sediments (Batley, 1995). Marine organisms accumulate metals and metalloids from the environment, with bioavailability and toxicity influenced by the metal/ metalloid chemical form rather than total concentrations (ANZECC/ARMCANZ, 2000). Generally, ionic species are more bioavailable and toxic than those bound to particles and organic compounds. Notable exceptions include organic compounds of Hg and Sn, which are more toxic than their inorganic forms (Antizar-Ladislao, 2008; Boening, 2000). Although many metals and metalloids are essential micronutrients, all are potentially toxic to organisms above certain threshold concentrations (Batley, 1995; Kennish, 1997).

In the GBR and TS regions, sources such as agriculture and mining runoff, ports and harbours, drainage from acid sulfate soils (ASS), industrial effluents and emissions, atmospheric deposition, urban centres and wastewater discharge all contribute to elevated concentrations of metals and metalloids in receiving waters (Batley, 1995; Haynes and Johnson, 2000) (Table 1). Both abandoned (e.g. Mount Morgan gold mine, Horn Island gold mine) and operating mines (Fig. 2b) are potential sources of metals and metalloids to adjacent marine environment (GBRMPA, 2014;

Howley, 2012; Walker and Brunskill, 1996). In the northern and north-eastern regions of the TS, sediment contaminated with metals and metalloids is attributed to discharges from Papua New Guinean rivers, particularly the Fly River (Alongi et al., 1991; Baker and Harris, 1991; Baker et al., 1990; Gladstone, 1996; Haynes and Kwan, 2002; Heap and Sbaffi, 2008). Metalliferous commodities and coal are handled and shipped in the ports of Abbot Point, Hay Point, Gladstone and Townsville, and metal-related industries such as refineries are located in Townsville and Gladstone (Department of State Development Infrastructure and Planning, 2014; Department of the Environment and Energy, 2019) (Fig. 3a). For both mines and refineries, an emerging issue is the large volume of water requiring emergency releases after high rainfall events (GBRMPA, 2014). Phosphate-based fertilizers and fungicides used in agricultural land uses in the catchments adjacent to the GBR (Fig. 1b) have been linked to elevated levels of As, Cd and Hg in GBR coastal sediments (Havnes, 2001; Walker and Brunskill, 1996). Both WWTP effluent discharge and landfill leachate are known to contain metals and metalloids (Batley, 1995; Kjeldsen et al., 2002), but no information is available for these sources in the GBR and TS regions. Disturbances of coastal ASS in the GBR and TS regions, generally related to agriculture, aquaculture and urban developments, will result in acidification, metal contamination, deoxygenation and iron precipitation in coastal receiving water (Cook et al., 2000; Powell and Martens, 2005; Waterhouse et al., 2013) (Fig. 2e), and subsequent remobilization of metals bound to particulate matter.

Metals and metalloids have been detected in water and sediment in the GBR and TS marine ecosystems, including the ports of Abbot Point, Cairns, Gladstone, Hay Point and Townsville (Table 1, S3, S4, S5). Based on available monitoring information<sup>4</sup>, dissolved metal and metalloid concentrations in GBR surface waters were typically low (Table S3a, S4a). Exceedances of DGVs for marine water quality (ANZG, 2018; Golding et al., 2015) have been reported for Al (24  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>), Cu (1.3  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>) and Zn (15  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>) (95th percentile concentrations) around the Port of Cairns (Ports North, 2015) and for Port Curtis (Andersen et al., 2005; Angel et al., 2010; Angel et al., 2012; Apte et al., 2005; Arango et al., 2013; Department of Environment and Heritage Protection, 2012a; Department of Environment and Heritage Protection, 2012b; Department of Environment and Resource Management, 2011; GHD Pty Ltd, 2009a; Mortimer et al., 2013; Vicente-Beckett et al., 2006; Vision Environment QLD, 2011). Rivers discharging into the GBR, such as the Fitzroy River, can contain elevated dissolved metals which could reflect a mixture of natural geological sources and industrial and other anthropogenic discharges (Apte et al., 2006). These contributions could add up to substantial amounts based on, for example, the highest average dissolved Al concentration (64  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>; Table S4a) (Port Curtis Integrated Monitoring Program Inc., 2016) and mean monthly discharges of 13,874 ML from the Calliope River (Queensland Government, 2016e). Similarly, exceedances that are one order of magnitude greater than relevant DGVs have been reported for several metals in marine waters receiving discharge from highly disturbed ASS, such as East Trinity near Cairns (Cook et al., 2000). Exceedances of DGVs for sediment quality (ANZG, 2018) have been reported from several GBR ports, as well as the TS region (Table S3b, S4b), including for 95% upper confidence limits for As. Hg. Ni. Pb and Se concentrations in the Cairns and Townsville Ports (Port of Townsville Limited et al., 2013: Ports North, 2015), and for individual samples for As, Cr, Ni, Hg and Pb from the Endeavour River estuary, Port of Abbot Point and Port Curtis (Angel et al., 2012; GHD Pty Ltd, 2012b; Howley, 2012; Jones et al., 2005), and for As, Cr, and Ni in the Gulf of Papua and northern TS (Haynes and Kwan, 2002). In Townsville Port, exceedances were associated with shipping ores and refined materials containing Cu, Ni, Pb and Zn (Reichelt and Jones, 1994). Near Cairns, estuarine sediments impacted by ASS drainage can also be enriched with As, Cr, Fe, Ni, Pb and Zn (Broughton, 2008; Hicks et al., 1999; Johnston et al., 2010; Keene et al., 2010).

Metals and metalloids have been detected in a variety of marine organisms from the GBR and TS marine ecosystems, including in remote locations as well as near urban and industrial locations (Table S3c). Elevated metals (e.g. Cd, Co, Cu, Fe, Mn, Mo, Ni, Hg, Pb, Zn) and metalloids (e.g. As, Sb, Se) likely due to anthropogenic activities have been detected in seagrass (Zostera capricorni), crayfish (Panulirus ornatus), ovsters (Crassostrea echinata, Saccostrea amasa, S. commercialis, S. echinata and S. glomerata), mud whelk (Telescopium telescopium), mud crab (Scylla serrata), tuxedo crab (Australoplax tridentata), fish (e.g. barramundi, Lates calcarifer; parrotfish, Scarus dimidiatus; mullet Valamugil seheli), dugong (Dugong dugon) and green turtle (Chelonia mydas) (Gladstone, 1996; Haynes et al., 2005; Jones et al., 2005; Mortimer, 2000; Negri et al., 2009; Port Curtis Integrated Monitoring Program Inc., 2016; Prange and Dennison, 2000; World Wildlife Fund, 2016). Increased bioaccumulation of Ag, Cd, Cu, Fe, Mn and Zn in oysters (S. amassa) coincided with increased bioavailability of metals during Trichodesmium blooms (Jones, 1992). Some concentrations of As, Cu, Se and Zn in mud crabs and oysters exceeded food code standards for these elements in crustaceans and molluscs (Food Standards Australia New Zealand, 2015) (Table S3c).

Metals can exert sub-lethal and toxic effects at concentrations measured in GBR and TS marine ecosystems. A reduction in growth has been reported following exposure to environmentally relevant metal concentrations, for the tropical microalga Isochrysis galbana (Cu) (Trenfield et al., 2015), the tropical dogwhelk Nassarius dorsatus (Cu, Al) (Trenfield et al., 2016), and for the marine diatom Ceratoneis closterium (formerly Nitzschia closterium) (Al) (Harford et al., 2011). Tissue mortality and effects on symbiosis were observed in tropical sponges experimentally exposed to Cu (Webster et al., 2001). In corals, exposure to metals such as Cd, Ni, Pb, Zn, and Cu in particular, can result in photosynthesis reduction in algal symbionts, zooxanthellae loss and changes in oxygen consumption (Bielmyer et al., 2010; Reichelt-Brushett and Harrison, 2005), as well as adversely affecting fertilization success, larval motility, larval settlement success and metamorphosis (Negri and Heyward, 2001; Negri et al., 2002; Reichelt-Brushett and Hudspith, 2016; Reichelt-Brushett and Harrison, 1999; Reichelt-Brushett and Harrison, 2000; Reichelt-Brushett and Harrison, 2005; Reichelt-Brushett and Michalek-Wagner, 2005; Reichelt-Brushett and Harrison, 2004; Victor and Richmond, 2005). Embryo and larval development in oyster (Saccostrea echinata), mussel (Mytilus edulis plannulatus) and barnacle (Amphibalanus amphitrite) are affected at Al concentrations that have been recorded in mid Boyne estuary and mid Calliope estuary (van Dam et al., 2016). Elevated concentrations of Co, Mn and Sb in green turtles (Chelonia mydas) correlate with clinical markers of inflammatory response and liver dysfunction (World Wildlife Fund, 2016). Several metals, such as, Cd, Mn, and Hg (particularly methylmercury) are well-established endocrine disrupting chemicals (Kortenkamp, 2011; United Nations Environment Programme and the World Health Organization, 2013), and exposures to Cd, Hg, Pb, Se, and Zn have been implicated in the endocrine disruption of marine invertebrates (Depledge and Billinghurst, 1999). These metals and metalloids have been detected in marine organisms in the GBR and TS marine environments (da Silva et al., 2004; Denton and Burdonjones, 1986a, 1986b, 1986c; Haynes et al.,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For the commercial ports, monitoring information was typically obtained from the scientific and grey literature, and environmental assessment reports. The Port Curtis Integrated Monitoring Program also provided monitoring data specifically for this study. Monitoring data was requested but not made available by any of the other port corporations (North Queensland Bulk Ports, Ports North, Port of Townsville).

2005; Haynes and Johnson, 2000; Jones et al., 2005; Mortimer, 2000; Negri et al., 2009; Rayment and Barry, 2000; Berry et al., 2013; Gladstone, 1996) and could potentially disrupt endocrine systems in these species. Discharge of ASS containing Al and Fe can acidify receiving waters (Cook et al., 2000) potentially affecting migration of fish and invertebrate species (Kroon, 2005), and result in the formation and sedimentation of Al and Fe flocs that can smother benthic communities (Cook et al., 2000). Discharges from ASS have been linked to the seasonal occurrence of epizootic ulcerative syndrome in fish (Callinan et al., 1996; McClurg et al., 2009a; McClurg et al., 2009b; Powell and Martens, 2005), and extensive fish kills have been reported in both naturally (Brown et al., 1983) and artificially (Callinan et al., 1996; Dawson, 2002) drained ASS catchments in north-eastern Australia. Fish kills have also been reported for many GBR rivers, however, a causal link with ASS discharge has not been determined (McClurg et al., 2009a; McClurg et al., 2009b).

In summary, a range of sources related to human activities have contributed to elevated metal and metalloid concentrations in GBR and TS marine ecosystems. Locations where concentrations exceeded DGVs for sediment and marine water quality and/or food code standards include most of the five main ports, East Trinity near Cairns, the Endeavour river estuary, the TS region and the Gulf of Papua (Table S3, S4, S5). Only one port (Port Curtis) in the GBR provided monitoring data; a more complete assessment of metal/ metalloid contamination would benefit from the contributions of all data custodians. Elevated levels of metals and metalloids were reported for a range of marine organisms in the GBR including species for human consumption (Table S3c). In addition, sub-lethal effects have been detected for reproduction, development and growth for a range of marine species following exposure to environmentally relevant concentrations of metals/metalloids. Other potential effects of metal and metalloid contamination on, for example, migration of fish and invertebrates, fish diseases and mortality, and disruption of endocrine systems, have been postulated but not been confirmed for the GBR and TS marine environments.

#### 3.4. Marine debris

Marine debris (or marine litter) is defined as 'any persistent, manufactured or processed solid material discarded, disposed of or abandoned in the marine and coastal environment' (United Nations Environment Programme, 2009). Marine debris originates from sea or ocean-based sources such as shipping, fishing and aquaculture, and oil and gas platforms and rigs, and land-based sources including landfills, sewage and storm water, and industrial effluent (United Nations Environment Programme, 2009). Around the world, plastic items are generally the most common type of marine debris (United Nations Environment Programme, 2009). To prevent and minimize marine debris pollution from ships, the Regulations for the Prevention of Pollution by Garbage from Ships (Annex V) entered into force 31 December 1988 under the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL) (International Maritime Organization, 2019). Annex V imposes a complete ban on the disposal into the sea of all forms of plastics. In Australia, MARPOL is being implemented through the Protection of the Sea (Prevention of Pollution from Ships) Act 1983 and the Navigation Act 2012 (Australian Maritime Safety Authority, 2018a). Plastics, however, remain a contaminant of concern as exemplified by the fact that approximately three-quarters of marine debris along the Australian coastline is plastic with the remainder consisting of glass, metal, paper and wood (Hardesty et al., 2016; Hardesty et al., 2014). Globally the presence of oceanic microplastics (i.e. plastic items < 5.0 mm in size (Masura et al., 2015)) has been identified as an emerging issue of international

concern (GESAMP, 2016), and contamination in Australian marine waters is ubiquitous (Reisser et al., 2013).

Only a few studies have specifically examined the sources of marine debris pollution in the GBR and TS regions (Griffin, 2008; Hardesty et al., 2014; Haynes, 1997; Jensen et al., 2019) (Table 1). Most of the marine debris found on islands and cays in the Far Northern Section of the GBR is likely derived from oceanic and local shipping sources (Haynes, 1997) (Fig. 3a-d). Shipwrecks can be a major source of marine debris including in remote locations (Schiel et al., 2016), however debris contamination following groundings in GBR or TS waters (Fig. 3e) has not been assessed. On the other hand, high concentrations of floating marine plastics in GBR waters between Shoalwater Bay and Townsville in February 2013 were associated with large flooding events (Hardesty et al., 2014) due to Ex-Tropical Cyclone Oswald (Bureau of Meteorology, 2014), and thus most likely derived from landbased sources (Fig. 1b, 2a-d). The paths of many satellite-tracked global drifters suggest that the South Pacific and Coral Sea are at least a contributing source of marine debris washing up on the northern GBR and TS marine ecosystems (Griffin, 2008). Fragmentation of larger items is a likely source of marine microdebris in the GBR and TS regions, rather than specifically manufactured items such as microbeads or pre-production plastic pellets (Hall et al., 2015; Jensen et al., 2019; Kroon et al., 2018; Reisser et al., 2013). Most microfibres detected in GBR waters and coral reef fish were deemed to be of textile origin likely derived from clothing and furnishing (Jensen et al., 2019; Kroon et al., 2018). Potential sources for microdebris range from riverine discharge for inshore reefs, and (un-)intentional discard and wastewater discharges from vessels in the GBR, to long-range atmospheric and oceanic transport for offshore reefs (Critchell et al., 2015; Jensen et al., 2019). Given the wide range of potential sources of marine debris it is likely that exposure in the GBR and TS ecosystems is widespread and continuous. Indeed, repeated clean-ups at the same GBR beach show that marine debris is present continuously, with strong seasonal variation (Kroon et al., 2015).

Marine debris has been detected along the coastlines and in marine waters of the GBR and TS (Table 1, S6). The presence of marine debris, including plastics, in the GBR Marine Park was first documented in the scientific literature in 1997 (Haynes, 1997). More recently, a total of ~1.8 million items of marine debris were collected in 1,121 beach clean-ups from January 2008 to October 2015 in the GBR and TS regions (Tangaroa Blue Foundation, 2015). These items were classified as plastic (81%), foam (6%), glass and ceramic (4%), rubber (4%), and metal (3%) (Kroon et al., 2015; Tangaroa Blue Foundation, 2014). Standardizing the marine debris data from 606 of these beach clean-ups to 100 m (Schulz et al., 2015) revealed that plastics were the most abundant item (58% to 91%) across all seven NRM regions overlapping the GBR and TS marine ecosystems (Kroon et al., 2015). Specifically, the abundance of plastic items ranged from an average of 398 to 1,558 items per 100 m of beach cleaned. Other items such as glass, metal and cloth comprised a relatively large proportion (19% to 33%) in some but not all the NRM regions. Smaller plastic particles, including microplastics, were first reported in surface waters of the GBR and TS, at concentrations ranging from 1 to 80,000 pieces per km<sup>2</sup>, during surveys in September 2012 and February 2013. The highest concentrations (40,000 to 80,000 pieces per km<sup>2</sup>) were recorded between Shoalwater Bay and Townsville in February 2013 (Hardesty et al., 2014). Subsequent studies have confirmed microdebris contamination, including microplastics, of (sub-) surface waters in the central GBR (Hall et al., 2015), with contamination more prevalent near offshore compared to inshore reefs (Jensen et al., 2019). More than half of the items detected contained synthetic (i.e. plastic) polymers, the most common ones being polyester, nylon, and polyethylene (Jensen et al., 2019).

In the GBR and TS marine ecosystems, risks related to marine debris have known and potential impacts on matters of national environmental significance and Outstanding Universal Value (Ceccarelli, 2009; GBRMPA, 2014). Both entanglement and ingestion have been reported for turtles, cetaceans, dugong, and seabirds, including for species that are already threatened, vulnerable, endangered, or critically endangered (Ceccarelli, 2009). Based on evidence from overseas studies (Gall and Thompson, 2015; Wright et al., 2013), the impacts are likely to be much more widespread and include many more marine species than currently documented. For example, two recent studies reported a high frequency of occurrence of microdebris ingestion, including microplastics, in two species of coral reef fish captured in the GBR WHA (Jensen et al., 2019; Kroon et al., 2018). The effects, detrimental or otherwise, of physical, chemical and/or microbial exposure associated with the ingestion of marine debris on wild fish populations in the GBR and TS marine ecosystems are currently unknown. Micro-organisms and invertebrates have been detected on floating marine plastic in GBR waters (Reisser et al., 2014), representing a new dispersal pathway for marine organisms. Furthermore, disease on reef building corals increased with the presence of plastic waste (Lamb et al., 2018), including derelict fishing line as reported for the GBR (Lamb et al., 2015). Other potential ecosystem effects, such as changes of habitat and species assemblages, introduction of invasive species and alteration of marine food webs (Browne et al., 2015) have not been examined in GBR and TS marine ecosystems.

In summary, marine debris was reported for coastal and island beaches across GBR and TS marine ecosystems (Table S6). Across these different environments, plastics comprise by far the most common item of marine debris, followed by foam, glass and ceramic, rubber and metal. Locations where marine debris accumulates have not been determined but are likely to be influenced by the physical characteristic of the source location, the rate of degradation, and prevailing water currents and wind drifts. Both entanglement and ingestion have been reported in the GBR and TS regions and have known and potential impacts on matters of national environmental significance and Outstanding Universal Value. In addition, recent studies have demonstrated the prevalence of marine microdebris, including microplastics, in (sub-)surface waters and coral reef fish in the GBR. However, a lack of monitoring data across GBR and TS marine ecosystems means that the long-term impacts of exposure to marine debris are currently unknown. This is of concern for habitat forming species such as coral, species that are already threatened, vulnerable, endangered, or critically endangered, and species for human consumption such as coral trout.

#### 3.5. Pharmaceuticals and personal care products

Pharmaceuticals comprise a broad range of human and veterinary medical products used for the diagnosis, treatment or prevention of various physical and mental conditions (Daughton and Ternes, 1999; World Health Organization, 2003). Many different conventions are used for the classification of pharmaceuticals, including systems based on their biological modes of action, chemical structures or intended use (World Health Organization, 2003). Examples of some major pharmaceutical classes include: antibiotics, psychotropic drugs (e.g. anti-depressants, mood stabilizers), non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), antihypertensives and anti-cholesterolemics, and anti-convulsants, as well as illicit (recreational) drugs. Personal care products (PCPs) comprise a large array of consumer products generally used on the human body, such as cosmetics, toiletries or fragrances that contain active ingredients to prevent diseases or alter odour, appearance, touch or taste (Daughton and Ternes, 1999). Similar to pharmaceuticals, PCPs are represented by a broad range of classes of compounds, both in terms of function and physicochemical properties (Molins-Delgado et al., 2015). Some of the common classes of PCPs include surfactants and their bioactive transformation products (e.g. nonylphenol, quaternary ammonium compounds), disinfectants and antimicrobials (e.g. parabens, triclosan), insect repellents (e.g. N,N-diethyl-metatoluamideDEET), musks and fragrances (e.g. galaxolide, tonalide), UV filters (e.g. benzophenone, octocrylene), plasticizers (e.g. bisphenol A (BPA), diethylhexylphthalate (DEPH), phthalates), anticorrosives (e.g. benzotriazoles) and food products (e.g. artificial sweeteners, caffeine). Pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) can be considered high volume products (produced in thousands of tons) that are released into waste streams from population centres (e.g. WWTPs) or at sites associated with human activities (e.g. shipping, tourism or recreation activities) (Kaplan, 2013). Due to their potential ecotoxicological effects even at low concentrations (Christen et al., 2010; Daughton and Ternes, 1999; Melvin, 2015; Melvin et al., 2014; United Nations Environment Programme and the World Health Organization, 2013), PPCPs are now widely recognized as emerging threats to aquatic animals and ecosystem health (Boxall et al., 2012; Rudd et al., 2014), including marine ecosystems (Minguez et al., 2014).

The main sources of PPCPs in the GBR and TS marine ecosystems are wastewater discharges from WWTPs into (rivers that are connected to) coastal waters and from vessels discharged directly into marine waters (Table 1). Wastewater discharge generally consists of untreated or treated sewage (i.e. drainage from toilets, medical premises and spaces containing living animals) and greywater (i.e. drainage from showers, sinks and laundries). The distribution of the human population and locations of WWTPs (Fig. 2a) in the region, combined with the distribution of vessel traffic associated with bulk shipping (Fig. 3a), commercial fishing (Fig. 3b), commercial and recreational tourism (Fig. 3c) and Australian Defence Force operations (Fig. 3d), would therefore have the greatest influence on the presence of PPCPs in the GBR and TS marine ecosystems. Dilution following discharge from landbased WWTPs is likely to be significant, greatly reducing concentrations in the GBR and TS marine environments. For example, data for Sydney Harbour revealed relatively low (ng L<sup>-1</sup>) concentrations of all measured compounds despite its proximity to a major urban centre (Birch et al., 2015). Discharge for treated and untreated sewage in the GBR Marine Park is generally permitted with restrictions around certain vessels (e.g. cruise ships; GBRMPA, 2018) and distances to a person in the water, to an aquaculture fisheries resource, and to a reef, island or the mainland (Maritime Safety Queensland, 2019). Discharge estimates for a large cruise ship (3,000 passengers and crew) are 800,000 L for sewage and 4,000,000 L for greywater for a typical one-week voyage (Copeland, 2005). Although dilution is also likely to be significant, the lack of monitoring information in receiving waters means that potential environmental risks from PPCP loads in wastewater discharges from land-based WWTPs (Fig. 2a) and from the combined vessel traffic (Fig. 3a-d) cannot be discounted. In addition, production of livestock such as cattle, pigs and poultry and land-based aquaculture in north Queensland present potential sources of veterinary pharmaceuticals, especially antibiotics (Gaw et al., 2014; Sarmah et al., 2006) (Table 1). Landfills and seafills, urban storm water and septic tanks can also leach PPCPs into receiving waters particularly in high rainfall areas (Gaw et al., 2014; Masoner et al., 2014). Finally, direct inputs of PPCPs into the marine environment in high use areas for tourism and recreational activities are also likely (Brausch and Rand, 2011). Approximately two million people visit the GBR annually using commercial tourist operators, with the Cairns and Whitsunday planning areas receiving approximately one million visitations each (GBRMPA, 2019b).

Direct input represents a potential source of PPCPs in areas of inwater activities in close proximity to coral reefs (e.g. snorkelling areas), including through leaching after external applications (e.g. sunscreens, perfumes). For example, two sunscreen applications per day by 2,700 visitors in the Cairns planning area could result in the release of 4,050 g of organic UV filters across the multiple reefs visited during that day (Danovaro et al., 2008; Kroon et al., 2015; Therapeutic Goods Administration, 2016)<sup>5</sup>. The final concentration would depend on the volume of water surrounding a reef and associated extent of dilution in the marine environment. At Hawaii's Waikiki Beach, seawater concentrations of the common UV-blocker benzophenone-3 reached a maximum of 0.136  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (Mitchelmore et al., 2019).

Limited monitoring data are available on PPCPs in or around the GBR and TS marine ecosystems, and most of this is reported in treated domestic wastewater (O'Brien et al., 2014) rather than actual environmental concentrations (Scott et al., 2014) (Table 1, S7). At the time of this review, only these two studies had been published providing information for just 29 products, measuring effluent from two of the >50 operational WWTPs (Hill et al., 2012) (Fig. 2a) and receiving waters in two out of the 35 river basins discharging into the GBR (Fig. 1a). PPCPs measured in treated sewage were at concentrations between 10 and 500 ng L<sup>-1</sup>, which is consistent with storm water and WWTP effluent concentrations measured in other Australian studies not located in the GBR and TS region (French et al., 2015; Sidhu et al., 2012). Exceptions include several PPCPs observed in the Wet Tropics region, including the artificial sweetener acesulfame  $(4.4 \ \mu g \ L^{-1})$ , the anticonvulsant gabapentin  $(1.8 \ \mu g \ L^{-1})$ , the diuretic hydrochlorothiazide (1.1  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>), the X-ray contrast agent iopromide (2.3  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>), the analgesic tramadol (2.0  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>) and the psychotropic venlafaxine (1.2  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>) (O'Brien et al., 2014). In river water, paracetamol was reported in the Fitzroy region at 4.1 µg  $L^{-1}$  (Scott et al., 2014). Many of these measurements come from a single sampling event, so the reliability of these concentrations as representative for these regions is limited. A recent national analysis of WWTP effluent representing 48% of Australia's population demonstrated loads of total UV-filters (5 organic UV-filters) of 819 ± 647 mg per 1,000 person per day and a maximum UVfilter effluent concentration of 8.48  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (O'Malley et al., 2020). Of the measured UV filters being released into the environment through effluent, Ensulizole and Sulisobenzone were the most prevalent. The WWTP sites were not named but loads were highest in tropical locations which may include the GBR. The number of PPCPs entering the GBR and TS coastal environments through WWTP and storm water discharges, as well as directly entering the marine environment through vessel discharges and direct input in areas of in-water activities is likely to be vastly greater. For example, an additional 39 pharmaceuticals have been detected in Australia-wide monitoring studies in wastewater and receiving environments (Kroon et al., 2015), and 13 licit (e.g. alcohol, nicotine, oxycodone, fentanyl) and illicit (e.g. cocaine, methylamphetamine) drug types have been detected in sewage inflow at WWTPs located in Queensland (Australian Criminal Intelligence Commission, 2018).

Many PPCPs are persistent (e.g. artificial sweeteners, X-ray contrast agents), bio-accumulative (e.g. synthetic fragrance musks, some UV filters) and toxic (e.g. antimicrobials) (Molins-Delgado et al., 2015), and may therefore impacts on the health of receiving marine ecosystems. We are not aware, however, of any studies examining the effects of PPCPs on marine organisms in the GBR and TS ecosystems. Given the potentially large number of PPCPs present in these systems, we used hazard quotients (HQs; highest measured or predicted environmental concentration, i.e. MEC or PEC, divided by the predicted no-effect concentration, i.e. PNEC) for WWTP effluent to assess the potential ecological risks associated with PPCPs (Kroon et al., 2015). We followed an established framework (Cristale et al., 2013; Sánchez-Avila et al., 2009), where HQ < 1 indicates no risk,  $1 \le$  HQ < 10 represents a low risk,  $10 \le HQ < 100$  signifies a high risk, and  $HQ \ge 100$  indicates that adverse outcomes are expected. These HQ values are indicative only as (i) limited effluent concentration data for WWTPs were available for the GBR, (ii) additional effluent concentration data was used from other WWTPs in Australia, and (iii) many of the derived PEC and PNEC data have a great deal of uncertainty related to them, including being derived from freshwater species. PPCPs identified with HQ > 1 are the antibiotic salinomycin (HQ = 1,700), the antimicrobials benzalkonium chloride (21) and triclosan (23 water; 450 sediment), the statin atorvastatin (18), the fibrate gemfibrozil (5.8), the musk fragrance galaxolide (4.2), a non-ionic surfactant by-product nonylphenol (2.3), the psychotropic amitriptyline (1.9), the analgesic tramadol (1.2), and the psychotropic venlafaxine (1.2) (Table S7). While the actual ecological risks of these PPCPs following dilution in the marine environment may be significantly lower, paucity of monitoring data including from sources other than WWTPs means that HQs cannot be reliably estimated for the GBR and TS marine environments. In addition, numerous studies have demonstrated sub-lethal outcomes in marine organisms from exposures at ng L-1 concentrations, such as behavioural effects (Fong and Ford, 2014), antibiotic resistance (Zhu et al., 2017) and endocrine disruption (United Nations Environment Programme and the World Health Organization, 2013), which can also have implications for higherlevel biological processes (e.g., survival, health and population fitness) (Ankley et al., 2010; Groh et al., 2015). For example, the UVfilter benzophenone-3, commonly found in sunscreens and cosmetics, has been reported to affect coral larvae at moderately low concentrations of 6.5 µg L<sup>-1</sup> (Downs et al., 2016), coral bleaching at very high concentrations of 10,000  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (Danovaro et al., 2008), and mortality across a range of high concentrations (49-1,000  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>) (Downs et al., 2016; He et al., 2019). These and other PPCPs can directly enter the marine environment in tourist hotspots, including popular reef viewing areas, which highlights the need for better monitoring of PPCPs in the GBR and TS marine environments. Given the large number of potential PPCPs present, such monitoring should be informed by predictive methods for risk prioritization to develop a short-list of potentially high-risk compounds (Dong et al., 2013; King et al., 2015).

In summary, PPCPs were reported for treated domestic wastewater from two WWTPs in Cairns, and in receiving waters of the Fitzroy River. We are not aware of any other available monitoring information on PPCPs for water, sediment or biota in the GBR and TS marine environments. Indeed, a recent review of worldwide pharmaceutical risks to marine environments demonstrates the extremely limited monitoring data available for Australia compared to other parts of the world (Fabbri and Franzellitti, 2015). Locations where concentrations of PPCPs may pose potential ecological risks include marine environments receiving discharge from land-based WWTPs (Fig. 2a) and from the combined vessels in high traffic shipping lanes and at designated port anchorages (Fig. 3a–d) and discharge areas, as well as around tourist hotspots with inwater activities in close proximity to coral reefs (e.g. snorkelling areas). The preliminary estimates of HQ values, developed in lieu of any effect studies on marine organisms in the GBR and TS ecosystems, would suggest that at least some PPCPs in wastewater discharges may be causing adverse effects at the most contami-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Based on (i) 2,700 visitors per planning area per day (~ one million visitors annually) (Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, 2019b), (ii) two applications of sunscreen per person per day, of which ten g can be released into the environment (Danovaro et al., 2008), and (iii) the maximum concentration (15%, w/w) permitted for organic UV filters (Therapeutic Goods Administration, 2018).

nated sites. Hence, targeted studies that examine environmental concentrations and potential effects of chronic exposure to potentially high-risk PPCPs in GBR and TS marine ecosystems are warranted.

#### 3.6. Petroleum hydrocarbons

Petroleum hydrocarbons are compounds that contain carbon and hydrogen atoms in a vast array of molecular combinations. The most common hydrocarbons are petroleum crude oils, fuels or other refined petroleum products, which contain various proportions of alkanes (paraffins), cycloalkanes (naphthenes) and aromatic hydrocarbons containing one or more aromatic rings (Petrov, 2012). Petroleum hydrocarbons that contain one to eight carbon atoms are gases or highly volatile liquids and persist in the marine environment for only hours to days, while higher molecular weight hydrocarbons are less volatile and can persist on or in seawater or sediments for days to months (Gong et al., 2014). These larger, more persistent petroleum hydrocarbons generally have low solubility in water and following surface spills initially float on the seawater surface and later become associated with sediments (Gong et al., 2014). Petroleum hydrocarbons can also become entrained in the water column as oil droplets due to the wave action on oil slicks at the water surface, by high current velocities, or due to pressurized releases from underwater wellhead blowouts or pipeline ruptures (Reed et al., 1999). The components of petroleum hydrocarbons that are most hazardous to marine life are the aromatic hydrocarbons including the monocyclic hydrocarbons (MAHs) and PAHs (French-McCay, 2002). Indeed, petroleum hydrocarbons are often reported for monitoring purposes as total PAHs associated with aquatic sediments because this component is the most toxic and can be relatively persistent (French-McCay, 2002).

The presence of petroleum hydrocarbons in the GBR and TS regions is associated with natural sources, runoff and discharge from industry and urban sources, atmospheric deposition, vessel and port operations, and shipping incidents and accidents (Det Norske Veritas Ltd. 2013: Havnes and Johnson. 2000: Waterhouse et al., 2013) (Table 1). Oil exploration or extraction does not occur in the GBR and TS regions. Numerous natural sources of hydrocarbons exist in the marine environment, including seepage from sub-surface reservoirs (Hornafius et al., 1999), and recent biogenic synthesis by plants and microorganisms (Blumer et al., 1971). Hydrocarbons from natural sources such as terrestrial plant material have been identified in an inner GBR sediment sample (Shaw and Johns, 1985), but their presence in the GBR and TS marine ecosystems more broadly has not been assessed. Similarly, atmospheric deposition of burnt fuels and bushfires has not been quantified. Spikes in petroleum and natural sources of hydrocarbons may occur after cyclones due to excess runoff (Sandstrom, 1988). Activities that can contribute to contamination within ports include direct discharge of burnt fuel and lubricants from vessels, loading of cargo (e.g. coal which contains PAHs), and loss from coal stockpiles (Maher and Aislabie, 1992; Queensland Government, 2016b; Smith et al., 1985) (see section 3.2 'Coal dust and particles'). Most petroleum hydrocarbon contamination around ports from these sources is likely to accumulate in sediments close to loading facilities (ANZG, 2018; GHD Pty Ltd, 2009b; WBM, 2005). Shipping activities have resulted in >500 spills of diesel oil, hydraulic oils and heavy fuel oils in ports, coastal waters and the GBR from 2002 to 2016, with half of these occurring within ports or port limits (Queensland Government, 2016b). The largest spills include 25 tonnes of heavy fuel oil from the Global Peace within Gladstone Harbour (18 tonnes recovered) after a collision in 2006 (Andersen et al., 2008; Melville et al., 2009); 14 tonnes of diesel fuel from a sinking tourist catamaran off Cape Tribulation in 2013 (Queensland Government, 2016b); 10 to 15

tonnes from an unnamed ship in 2015 off Cape Upstart (Queensland Government, 2016d); and up to 4 tonnes of fuel oil from the Shen Neng I which ran aground on Douglas Shoal off Gladstone in 2010 (GBRMPA, 2011). In 1970 the tanker Oceanic Grandeur collided with an uncharted rock in the heavily transited Torres Strait, losing 1,100 tonnes of crude oil (Australian Maritime Safety Authority, 2018b). The largest plausible spills in the GBR and TS marine environments would be from large oil tankers which could potentially lose over 50,000 tonnes (all tanks ruptured) of refined or crude oil, while large general cargo vessels could lose up to 5,000 tonnes of fuel oil (Australian Maritime Safety Authority, 2015; Burgherr, 2007). Recent risk assessments indicate 'total oil spill risk' annually within the GBR and TS regions of 418 tonnes petroleum hydrocarbons from all ship and accident types (Det Norske Veritas Ltd. 2013). This risk was projected to more than double by 2032 based on expected increases in ships transiting the region (PGM Environment, 2012), including passages of very large coal vessels and liquefied natural gas (LNG) tankers (North-East Shipping Management Group, 2014). Locations facing the highest risk of major oil spills are those where shipping traffic is highest (Fig. 3a-d), including the West Torres Strait, North and Middle Inner Route, north of Yeppoon and Hydrographers Passage.

Across the GBR and TS marine environments, total PAHs are not routinely monitored except as part of the environmental planning and management activities for port and dredging developments (Table S8a, b, c). When sampling has been performed in diverse locations across the GBR, total PAH concentrations in the sediments was highest in the larger multi-use ports (total PAH generally less than < 200  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> but some samples up to 13,400  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup>), followed by rivers with urban inputs  $(<200 \ \mu g \ kg^{-1})$  and island locations visited by small boats  $(<25 \ \mu g \ kg^{-1})$ , and finally undetectable at offshore coral reefs (Smith et al., 1987; Smith et al., 1985) (Table S8b). Given that the Australian and New Zealand DGV for sediment quality for total PAHs of 10,000  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> (normalized to 1% OC) (ANZG, 2018) has rarely been exceeded, total PAHs have been considered a low risk to the highly disturbed port environment by port operators (GHD Ptv Ltd. 2009b: North Oueensland Bulk Ports Corporation. 2012: WBM, 2005). However, this DGV was developed from expected bioavailability and toxicity largely to non-tropical species (ANZG, 2018), and should be validated further with tropical species and under tropical conditions. The detection of PAHs in sediments (<200  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup>) and waters (<11  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup>) of river mouths, in the absence of large vessel and industrial operations, likely reflect inputs from agricultural and urban sources (Humphrey et al., 2007). Following the oil spill from the *Global Peace* in Gladstone Harbour in 2006, maximum concentration of total PAHs in sediments close to the spill were 9,800  $\mu g~kg^{-1}$  (normalized to 1% OC) a month after the spill (Andersen et al., 2008; Melville et al., 2009). We are not aware of other monitoring following large fuel spills from shipping accidents in the GBR or TS regions, including ongoing monitoring to determine the long-term impacts of petroleum hydrocarbon contamination, the effectiveness of any cleanup operations, and/or the potential for recovery of marine ecosystems.

Acute exposure to high concentrations of oil, fuel and coal spills from ship collision, grounding or sinking can have detrimental and long-term effects on tropical marine ecosystems (Peterson et al., 2003). For example, an approximate 10,000 m<sup>3</sup> spill of medium crude in coastal waters of Panama in 1968 had extensive longterm effects on mangroves, seagrasses and corals (Jackson et al., 1989), with very little evidence of recovery of coral reefs observed another five years on (Guzman et al., 1994). Floating oil slicks can cause particular harm to (i) reefs which emerge at low tide or by interacting with floating coral gametes during mass spawning (Loya and Rinkevich, 1980; Negri and Heyward, 2000); (ii) fish stocks through mortality of eggs and larvae (Langangen et al., 2017); (iii) intertidal mangrove forests where oil degradation rates are slow and contamination is likely to be long-term (Duke, 2016); and (iv) waders and seabirds (Piatt et al., 1990), and marine reptiles and mammals that surface to breathe (Geraci and St. Aubin, 1990). A major oil spill on coastal or reef ecosystems in the GBR or TS is thus expected to result in widespread habitat degradation, acute wildlife mortality and contamination lasting for decades (Burns et al., 1993; Guzman et al., 1994; Haapkylä et al., 2007; Jackson et al., 1989). In addition to detrimental effects of surface slicks, the dissolved fraction of PAHs is particularly toxic in particular to pelagic species and life history stages such as eggs and larvae (French-McCay, 2002; Sweet et al., 2018). Default guideline values for marine water quality are available for only a few MAHs and PAHs (ANZG, 2018), and are therefore inadequate for assessing the toxicity of complex dissolved MAHs and PAHs mixtures that would be present in the environment following an oil spill. Recent laboratory tests have shown that coral larvae are relatively sensitive to dissolved MAHs and PAHs, being negatively affected at concentrations as low as 24  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (total MAH + PAH) (Negri et al., 2016; Nordborg et al., 2018), within the hazard threshold range of 10 to 100  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> total PAHs proposed for the Deepwater Horizon Spill (French-McCay et al., 2018). Chemical dispersants which reduce the persistence of surface slicks (National Research Council, 2005) were used on the Oceanic Grandeur, Global Peace and Shen Neng 1 spills. However, the use of dispersants near sensitive habitats such as coral reefs, mangroves and seagrass meadows is generally not recommended as this can increase exposure to PAHs (Irving and Lee, 2015; Hook and Lee, 2015). Finally, chronic exposure to contaminated sediments associated with ports and large population centres can result in bioaccumulation, lethal and sub-lethal impacts in marine organisms, and in alteration of habitats (Moore and Dwyer, 1974). Despite generally being rapidly metabolized (Kleinow et al., 1987), PAHs or biomarkers for exposure have been identified in coastal and marine organisms across the GBR region, including sea cucumber (Holothuria spp.), coral (Acropora spp.), giant clam (Tridacna maxima), mud crab (Scylla serrata) and fish (barramundi, Lates calcarifer) (Coates et al., 1986; Humphrey et al., 2007; Negri et al., 2009; Smith et al., 1984; van Oosterom et al., 2010) (Table S8c).

In summary, petroleum hydrocarbons were detected in sediments of GBR marine ecosystems; however, very few exceedances of DGVs for marine water quality and sediment quality were reported (Table S8a, b). These DGVs should be validated further with tropical species under tropical conditions. While petroleum hydrocarbons can originate from a range of natural and human sources in the GBR and TS regions, shipping activities represent a considerable source contributing to over 500 spills in ports, coastal waters and the GBR from 2002 to 2016. The contribution of atmospheric deposition of burnt fuels and bushfires to petroleum hydrocarbon contamination, including exhaust from vessel traffic associated with bulk shipping (Fig. 3a), commercial fishing (Fig. 3b), commercial and recreational tourism (Fig. 3c) and Australian Defence Force operations (Fig. 3d), has not been quantified. Although the likelihood of a very large petroleum spill in the GBR and TS from an oil tanker is very low, such an occurrence would result in widespread habitat degradation, acute wildlife mortality and contamination lasting for decades.

#### 4. Synthesis

Previous studies have examined the presence of CECs in the marine environments of the GBR and TS regions, including antifouling paints (Haynes et al., 2002; Haynes and Loong, 2002), marine debris (Haynes, 1997), metals (Haynes and Johnson,

2000; Haynes and Kwan, 2002), and petroleum hydrocarbons (Haynes and Johnson, 2000). The current review of more recent data indicates that 20 years on, these CECs are still relevant hazards to the GBR and TS, and that other CECs including coal, microplastics and PPCPs require further monitoring and hazard studies. While our focus was on the tropical marine ecosystems along the east coast of Queensland, Australia, covering the GBR Marine Park and WHA and associated reef ecosystems extending into the TS region bordering Papua New Guinea, we envisage that our findings on sources, presence and potential effects of the six different categories of CECs will be relevant to other, less studied, tropical marine ecosystems around the world.

The known and likely sources for the six different categories of CECs reviewed are relatively well understood across the GBR and TS regions (GBRMPA, 2014) (Figs. 1, 2, 3). For example, monitoring information demonstrates that commercial ports, marinas, and shipping incidents and groundings are sources of antifouling paints, metals and petroleum hydrocarbons (Table 1, S1, S3, S4, S5, S8). Moreover, the main source for PPCPs is likely to be wastewater discharge from WWTPs and vessels (Table 1, S7) (Copeland, 2005; GBRMPA, 2018; Maritime Safety Queensland, 2019; O'Brien et al., 2014), although contributions from agricultural and urban land uses, aquaculture, landfills, and coastal and marine tourism cannot be discounted based on information from (inter-) national studies (Brausch and Rand, 2011; Gaw et al., 2014; Masoner et al., 2014; Sarmah et al., 2006). Indeed, the relative contribution of known and likely sources to the CECs considered here, and the associated risks these potential threats pose to the receiving environments, remains largely unknown. Our spatial representation of the known and likely sources of the six CEC categories in this review is a first step to future ecological risk assessments of these CECs to the GBR and TS marine environments.

While the presence of the CECs reviewed was broadly confirmed based on available monitoring data (Table 1, S1-S8), spatio-temporal coverage across the GBR and TS marine ecosystems varied greatly within and among the six categories. For example, the few large datasets we were able to acquire consisted of monitoring information with high temporal resolution at a single location (e.g. metals; (Port Curtis Integrated Monitoring Program Inc., 2015) or, conversely, information with high spatial resolution at a single point in time (e.g. marine debris; (Tangaroa Blue Foundation, 2015). The routine monitoring that is conducted on some of the CECs considered here, such as organotins, metals, and total PAHs, is mostly done as part of environmental planning and management activities for GBR port and dredging developments (e.g. Department of Environment and Heritage Protection, 2012b; GHD Pty Ltd, 2005; Port of Townsville Limited et al., 2013; Ports North, 2015). However, such monitoring information, often published in voluminous environmental impact statements, is not readily accessible or made publicly available by most port corporations. In contrast, other CECs such as antifouling components other than organotins and metals, coal dust and particles, marine debris, and PPCPs, are not routinely monitored at all. Indeed, monitoring information for either water, sediment, or biota is not available for any of the CECs across the geographical scale of the GBR and TS marine ecosystems with sufficient temporal coverage to support a regional assessment of potential risk. This is surprising given that the majority of contaminant data in the GBR was already considered dated 20 years ago (Haynes and Johnson, 2000).

Our review has revealed the relatively poor understanding of potential risks of exposure to tropical marine organisms and ecosystems for the majority of the CECs reviewed. The clear exceptions are organotin compounds such as TBT which have been banned based on their detrimental environmental impacts (Australian Government, 2013; International Maritime Organization, 2005). Legacy issues associated with organotin contamination of water, sediment, and biota, however, are still present in GBR and TS marine ecosystems (Table S1). In addition to antifouling components, other CECs such as metals and metalloids. marine debris and microplastics, and PAHs have been detected in a variety of organisms from the GBR and TS marine ecosystems, including in remote locations as well as near urban and industrial locations (Ceccarelli, 2009; Jensen et al., 2019; Kroon et al., 2018) (Table S3c, S8c). Field observations or experiments that link exposure patterns and associated bioburdens with potential adverse effects at different biological levels of organization to assess ecological risk (Ankley et al., 2010) are rarely conducted on tropical organisms in GBR and TS marine ecosystems with few exceptions (Humphrey et al., 2007). Controlled laboratory exposure experiments are more commonly conducted on tropical marine organisms but need to consider endpoints at whole of organism (i.e. development, growth, survival) that are meaningful to assessing ecological risk (Ankley et al., 2010). Bioaccumulation of CECs such as TBT, some metals and metalloids, and PAHs was also reported in species for human consumption, in some cases exceeding Australian food standard guidelines (Table S1c, 3c, 8c). For those locations a re-appraisal of potential risk from seafood consumption is in order, given that most of these data are more than ten years old and Australian food standard guidelines are non-existent for CECs such as TBT, marine plastics, or PAHs.

Finally, our review focused on six different categories of CECs known to be present, or likely to be present in GBR and TS marine environments. Our initial consideration of potential categories of CECs to be examined also included (i) nanomaterials, (ii) perand poly-fluoroalkyl substances (PFAS), and (iii) unexploded ordnance, explosive ordnance waste and a wide range of disposed war materials. However, monitoring information on these three categories appear to be either non-existent or even less available and/or accessible compared to the six categories of CECs examined here. The increased use of engineered nanomaterials (i.e. materials measuring 1 - 100 nm in at least one dimension) in industrial applications and in consumer and medical products (Batley et al., 2013: Vance et al., 2015) and their occurrence in wastewater (Neale et al., 2013) has raised concerns relating to their potential effects on marine organisms including coral, algae, macroinvertebrates and fish (Matranga and Corsi, 2012). PFAS have been used in industrial processes such as fire-fighting foams, and in common household products and specialty applications (Ahrens and Bundschuh, 2014). Environmental contamination around Australian Defence properties (Department of Defence, 2019b) and commercial ports and airports (Queensland Government, 2019b) is currently being investigated, although the distribution and effects of PFAS on the GBR and TS ecosystems is currently unknown. Unexploded ordnance and munitions have been dumped in coastal marine environments around the world (Beck et al., 2018), including around Australia (Plunkett, 2003) and in the GBR (PGM Environment and Eco Logical Australia, 2014). Corrosion of metal munition housing, and associated release of organic explosive compounds or chemical warfare agent into the marine environment, may result in acute and sub-lethal toxicity to marine organisms (Beck et al., 2018). Given the potential ecological effects of these three additional categories of CECs, we recommend that their presence and distribution are further examined through targeted monitoring studies to determine potential exposure of GBR and TS marine environments.

#### 4.1. Areas of further research

The information presented in this review, in particular the spatial representation of the known and likely sources, will help inform future ecological risk assessment and management of the CECs known to be present, or likely to be present in GBR and TS marine environments. In contrast to the considerable progress made linking the effects of sediment, nutrients and pesticides on GBR ecosystems to their catchment sources and transport pathways (Brodie et al., 2012; Kroon et al., 2016), relatively little progress in these fields has been made for CECs since the studies conducted by Haynes and colleagues in the late 1990s and early 2000s (Haynes, 1997; Haynes et al., 2002; Haynes and Johnson, 2000; Haynes and Kwan, 2002; Haynes and Loong, 2002). Our review has provided an update on the current understanding of known and potential sources, presence and effects of CECs in the study region. Based on our findings, we recommend the following key areas of research to further progress future ecological risk assessments of CECs to the GBR and TS marine ecosystems.

#### 4.1.1. Identify potential high-risk CECs for targeted monitoring

For CECs such as PPCPs, continuously discharged in wastewater from WWTPs and from vessels, very little to no monitoring data exists for the study region and our review relied primarily on information from other Australian or international studies. Similarly, the lack of monitoring at vessel grounding sites following cleanup (Marshall et al., 2002) or no clean-up (GBRMPA, 2011) means that the long-term impacts of exposure to extreme concentrations of antifouling components are currently unknown. This highlights the need for targeted monitoring campaigns in the GBR and TS marine environments to examine acute and chronic exposures to CECs, and to reduce the uncertainty in future ecological risk assessments. Such monitoring should be informed by the development of a short-list of potential high-risk CECs using predictive methods for risk prioritization (Dong et al., 2013; King et al., 2015). Such a strategy will also help avoid the pitfalls of the Matthew Effect (commonly known as the 'bandwagon effect'), where available monitoring and toxicity data influences and biases future research activities (Daughton, 2014; Grandjean et al., 2011). Once a comprehensive suite of CECs has been identified for monitoring using this process, collaboration on regional, national and international scales will be necessary to generate a comprehensive database of compounds posing a risk to tropical marine environments, and particularly the high value GBR and TS environments.

#### 4.1.2. Integrate monitoring data into publicly available databases

For some of the six categories of CECs reviewed, additional datasets were identified but, despite repeated requests, were not made available for our study by the respective custodians. This means that not all existing environmental datasets were included in our review, with a potential flow-on effect on policy and management not being based on a complete picture of existing relevant information. Moreover, much of our effort was focused on repeatedly trying to access relevant datasets rather than conducting associated analyses to determine presence and distribution of CECs. We recommend that monitoring data for CECs are placed into the public domain and made available in integrated databases for developing marine baselines for the GBR and TS marine environments (National Marine Science Plan 2015-2025, 2015). Depending on the CEC, this would include data from governments and government agencies, universities, research organizations, agricultural industries, shipping industries, port authorities and associated industries, engineers, consultants, NGOs and community groups.

#### 4.1.3. Derive guideline values for tropical marine environments

DGVs for contaminants in marine water and sediment are generally derived from toxicity data that do not reflect environmental variables typical of tropical marine environments, or include species that are representative of tropical marine ecosystems (ANZG, 2018). The bioavailability and toxicity of contaminants can be influenced by variables such as temperature (Pathiratne and Kroon, 2016) and UV (Nordborg et al., 2018) which are generally higher in tropical environments. Moreover, tropical marine ecosystems often contain unique habitat-forming species such as corals and sponges for which toxicity data are mostly absent, limiting the relevance of DGVs. Hence, we recommend that both field observational and controlled field and laboratory exposure studies are conducted on tropical species to derive site-specific guideline values for GBR and TS marine ecosystems. Tropical environmental conditions, including high seawater temperature and UV that can modulate the toxicity of high-risk CECs should be accounted for in such studies.

#### 4.1.4. Assess the ecological risk of priority CECs

The potential risks of exposure to enhanced levels of land-based pollutants such as suspended sediments, nutrients and pesticides to GBR coastal and marine ecosystems has been assessed several times (Waterhouse et al., 2017). In contrast, the potential risk of the CECs considered in this review have only been considered in a qualitative, cursory manner largely due to a lack of information (Kroon et al., 2015). While regional-wide monitoring information is scarce, our review shows that traditional contaminants such as organotins, metals and PAHs are still present, low dose exposures to contaminants of emerging interest such as PPCPs and coal dust and particles are likely, and emerging contaminants such as microplastics appear to be ubiquitous in the GBR and TS marine environments. It is likely that the sources and diversity of contaminants released into these environments will increase given the current and projected agricultural, urban and industrial developments in the GBR region (Det Norske Veritas Ltd, 2013; GBRMPA, 2014). Hence, an assessment of the ecological risks of priority CECs, including the risks relative to those posed by suspended sediments, nutrients and pesticides is warranted to ensure mitigation efforts are focused on those contaminants posing the highest threat now and into the future. This should include a characterization of exposure that evaluates potential or actual co-occurrence or contact of the contaminant with one of more ecological entities, and a characterization of ecological effects that evaluates the ability of a contaminant to cause adverse effects to one of more ecological entities (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 1998). We envisage that our spatial representation of the main sources of the six categories of CECs will contribute to the characterization of exposure in particular, and to future ecological risk assessments of CECs to the GBR and TS marine ecosystems in general.

#### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful for the contributions and co-operation of Carol Honchin and Katherine Martin (Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, GBRMPA), Steve Moon (Association of Marine Park Tourism Operators, AMPTO), Scott Crawford (Burdekin Dry Tropics), Alison Cox (Port Curtis Integrated Monitoring Program Inc., PCIMP), and Heidi Taylor and Wally Smith (Tangaroa Blue Foundation), and constructive comments by two anonymous reviewers. We particularly appreciate the sharing of customised databases by the PCIMP and by the Australian Marine Debris Initiative, the latter made possible by numerous data contributors and hosted by Tangaroa Blue Foundation (Table S9). This work was supported by the Australian Government's the National Environmental Science Program through its Tropical Water Quality Hub, the Australian Institute of Marine Science, Central Queensland University, CSIRO, and Griffith University.

#### Author statement

FJK: Conceptualization, Investigation, Project administration, Funding acquisition, Supervision, and writing (original draft, review & editing); KLEB, DLB, RK, FL, SM, PN, APN, JJT, JvdM, MW: Investigation, writing (original draft, review & editing); MP: Visualization.

#### Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135140.

#### References

- ABARES, 2016. The Australian Land Use and Management Classification Version 8. Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics and Sciences, Canberra, Australia, pp. 114.
- Ahrens, L., Bundschuh, M., 2014. Fate and effects of poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances in the aquatic environment: a review. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 33, 1921–1929.
- Ahrens, M.J., Morrisey, D.J., 2005. Biological effects of unburnt coal on the marine environment. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Annu. Rev., 69–122
- Al-Fori, M., Dobretsov, S., Myint, M.T., Dutta, J., 2014. Antifouling properties of zinc oxide nanorod coatings. Biofouling 30, 871–882.
- Almeida, E., Diamantino, T.C., de Sousa, O., 2007. Marine paints: the particular case of antifouling paints. Prog. Org. Coat. 59, 2–20.
- Alongi, D.M., Tirendi, F., Robertson, A.I., 1991. Vertical profiles of copper in sediments from the Fly delta and Gulf of Papua (Papua New Guinea). Mar. Pollut. Bull. 22, 253–255.
- Andersen, L.E., 2004. Imposex: a biological effect of TBT contamination in Port Curtis, Queensland. Australas. J. Ecotoxicol. 10, 105–113.
- Andersen, L., Revill, A., Storey, A., 2005. Metal bioaccumulation through food web pathways in Port Curtis. Technical Report 31. Cooperative Research Centre for Coastal Zone, Estuary and Waterway Management, Gladstone, Australia, pp. 59.
- Andersen, L.E., Melville, F., Jolley, D., 2008. An assessment of an oil spill in Gladstone, Australia - impacts on intertidal areas at one month post-spill. Mar. Poll. Bull. 57, 607–615.
- Andutta, F., Wolanski, E., 2012. Coal pollution of the Great Barrier Reef. INPRINT Land-ocean interactions in the coastal zone. (LOICZ) 1.
- Angel, B.M., Hales, L.T., Simpson, S.L., Apte, S.C., Chariton, A.A., Shearer, D.A., et al., 2010. Spatial variability of cadmium, copper, manganese, nickel and zinc in the Port Curtis, Estuary, Queensland, Australia. Mar. Freshw. Res. 61, 170–183.
- Angel, B.M., Jarolimek, C.V., King, J.J., Hales, L.T., Simpson, S.L., Jung, R.F., et al., 2012. Metal concentrations in the waters and sediments of Port Curtis. Queensland. CSIRO Wealth from Oceans Flagship, Sydney, Australia, p. 75.
- Ankley, G.T., Bennett, R.S., Erickson, R.J., Hoff, D.J., Hornung, M.W., Johnson, R.D., et al., 2010. Adverse outcome pathways: a conceptual framework to support ecotoxicology research and risk assessment. Environ. Toxicol.Chem. 29, 730– 741.
- Antizar-Ladislao, B., 2008. Environmental levels, toxicity and human exposure to tributyltin (TBT)-contaminated marine environment. A review. Environ. Int. 34, 292–308.
- Anyaogu, K.C., Fedorov, A.V., Neckers, D.C., 2008. Synthesis, characterization, and antifouling potential of functionalized copper nanoparticles. Langmuir 24, 4340–4346.
- ANZECC/ARMCANZ, 2000. National Water Quality Management Strategy, Paper No. 4 – Australian and New Zealand Guidelines for Fresh and Marine Water Quality. Australian and New Zealand Environment and Conservation Council and Agriculture and Resource Management Council of Australia and New Zealand, Canberra, Australia.
- ANZG, 2018. Australian and New Zealand Guidelines for Fresh and Marine Water Quality. Australian and New Zealand Governments and Australian state and territory governments, Canberra, Australia. https://www.waterquality.gov.au/ anz-guidelines/about (accessed February 2019).
- Apte, S., Duivenvoorden, L., Johnson, R., Jones, M.A., Revill, A., Simpson, S., et al., 2005. Contaminants in Port Curtis: screening level risk assessment. Technical Report No. 25. Cooperative Research Centre for Coastal Zone, Estuary and Waterway Management, Indooroopilly, Australia, pp. 146.
- Apte, S., Andersen, L., Andrewartha, J., Angel, B., Shearer, D., Simpson, S., et al., 2006. Contaminant pathways in Port Curtis: final report. Cooperative Research Centre for Coastal Zone, Estuary and Waterway Management, Indooroopilly, Australia, pp. 143.
- Arango, C., Holmes, M., St J. Warne, M., Playford, J., Ferris, J., Renouf, D., et al., 2013. Post-flood water quality monitoring in Gladstone Harbour and Waterways -

January 2013. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment Sciences, Department of Science, Information Technology, Innovation and the Arts, Queensland Government, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 10.

- Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2017. Data by Region. Australian Bureau of Statistics, Canberra, Australia. http://stat.abs.gov.au/itt/r.jsp?databyregion#/ (accessed September 2017).
- Australian Criminal Intelligence Commission, 2018. National Wastewater Drug Monitoring Program. Report 6, December 2018. Australian Criminal Intelligence Commission, Canberra, Australia, pp. 86.
- Australian Government, 2013. Protection of the Sea (Harmful Anti-fouling Systems) Act 2006. In: Government A, editor. No. 107, 2006 as amended. Australian Government, Canberra, Australia, pp. 32.
- Australian Maritime Safety Authority, 2015. Technical guideline for the preparation of marine pollution contingency plans for marine and coastal facilities. Australian Maritime Safety Authority, Canberra, Australia, pp. 64.
- Australian Maritime Safety Authority, 2018a. MARPOL and its implementation in Australia. Australian Maritime Safety Authority, Canberra, Australia. Current MARPOL texts for Annex I to Annex VI and Protocol 1. https://www.amsa.gov. au/marine-environment/marine-pollution/marpol-and-itsimplementationaustralia (accessed April 2019).
- Australian Maritime Safety Authority, 2018b. Oceanic Grandeur, 3 March 1970. Australian Marine Safety Authority, Canberra, Australia. https://www.amsa.gov. au/marine-environment/incidents-andexercises/oceanic-grandeur-3-march-1970 (accessed March 2019).
- Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority, 2015. Public Chemical Registration Information System Search. Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority, Canberra, Australia. https://portal.apvma.gov.au/pubcris (accessed November 2015).
- Baker, E.K., Harris, P.T., 1991. Copper, lead, and zinc distribution in the sediments of the Fly River Delta and Torres Strait. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 22, 614–618.
- Baker, E.K., Harris, P.T., Beck, R.W., 1990. Cu and Cd associated with suspended particulate matter in Torres Strait. Mar. Pollut.Bull. 21, 484–486.
- Bao, V.W.W., Leung, K.M.Y., Qiu, J.-W., Lam, M.H.W., 2011. Acute toxicities of five commonly used antifouling booster biocides to selected subtropical and cosmopolitan marine species. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 62, 1147–1151.
- Bartley, B., Turner, R., Waters, D., Kroon, F., Wilkinson, S., Garzon-Garcia, A., et al. 2017 Scientific Consensus Statement: Land use impacts on Great Barrier Reef water quality and ecosystem condition. Chapter 2: Sources of sediment, nutrients, pesticides and other pollutants to the Great Barrier Reef. Reef Water Quality Protection Plan Secretariat, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 77.
- Batley, G.E., 1995. Heavy metals and tributyltin in Australian coastal and estuarine waters. In: Zann, L.P., Sutton, D. (Eds.), State of the Marine Environment Report for Australia: Pollution - Technical Annex 2. Department of the Environment, Canberra, Australia, p. 12.
- Beck, A.J., Gledhill, M., Schlosser, C., Stamer, B., Bottcher, C., Sternheim, J., et al., 2018. Spread, behavior, and ecosystem consequences of conventional munitions compounds in coastal marine waters. Front. Mar Sci, 5.
- Bender, M.E., Roberts Jr., M.H., deFur, P.O., 1987. Unavailability of polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons from coal particles to the eastern oyster. Environ. Pollut. 44, 243–260.
- Berry, K.L.E., O'Brien, D., Burns, K.A., Brodie, J., 2013. Unrecognized pollutant risk to the Great Barrier Reef. Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville, Australia, pp. 30.
- Berry, K.L., Hoogenboom, M.O., Flores, F., Negri, A.P., 2016. Simulated coal spill causes mortality and growth inhibition in tropical marine organisms. Sci. Rep. 6, 25894.
- Berry, K.L.E., Hoogenboom, M.O., Brinkman, D.L., Burns, K.A., Negri, A.P., 2017. Effects of coal contamination on early life history processes of a reef-building coral, *Acropora tenuis* Mar. Pollut. Bull. 114, 505–514.
- Bielmyer, G.K., Grosell, M., Bhagooli, R., Baker, A.C., Langdon, C., Gillette, P., et al., 2010. Differential effects of copper on three species of scleractinian corals and their algal symbionts (*Symbiodinium* spp.). Aquat.Toxicol. 97, 125–133.
- Birch, G.F., Drage, D.S., Thompson, K., Eaglesham, G., Mueller, J.F., 2015. Emerging contaminants (pharmaceuticals, personal care products, a food additive and pesticides) in waters of Sydney estuary, Australia. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 97, 56–66.
- Blumer, M., Guillard, R.R.L., Chase, T., 1971. Hydrocarbons of marine phytoplankton. Mar. Biol. 8, 183–189.
- Boening, D.W., 2000. Ecological effects, transport, and fate of mercury: a general review. Chemosphere 40, 1335–1351.
- Borgert, C.J., Quill, T.F., McCarty, L.S., Mason, A.M., 2004. Can mode of action predict mixture toxicity for risk assessment? Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 201, 85–96.
- Boxall, A.B.A., Rudd, M.A., Brooks, B.W., Caldwell, D.J., Choi, K., Hickmann, S., et al., 2012. Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the environment: what are the big questions? Environ. Health Perspect. 120, 1221–1229.
- Braemer Seascope, 2013. North Queensland Ship Traffic Growth Study. Supplementary Report. For public release. Braemer Seascope Perth, Subiaco, Australia, pp. 71.
- Brausch, J.M., Rand, G.M., 2011. A review of personal care products in the aquatic environment: environmental concentrations and toxicity. Chemosphere 82, 1518–1532.
- Brodie, J.E., Kroon, F.J., Schaffelke, B., Wolanski, E., Lewis, S.E., Devlin, M.J., et al., 2012. Terrestrial pollutant runoff to the Great Barrier Reef: an update of issues, priorities and management responses. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 65, 81–100.
- Broughton, J.D., 2008. Element Behaviour in Inundated Actual Acid Sulfate Soils, East Trinity, Cairns PhD Thesis. James Cook University, Townsville, Australia.

- Brown, T.E., Morley, A.W., Sanderson, N.T., Tait, R.D., 1983. Report of a large fish kill resulting from natural acid water conditions in Australia. J. Fish Biol. 22, 335– 350.
- Browne, M.A., Underwood, A.J., Chapman, M.G., Williams, R., Thompson, R.C., van Franeker, J.A., 2015. Linking effects of anthropogenic debris to ecological impacts. Proc. R. Soc. B 282, 20142929.
- Bureau of Meteorology, 2014. Ex-TC Oswald Floods. January and February 2013. Bureau of Meteorology, Canberra, Australia, pp. 73.
- Burgherr, P., 2007. In-depth analysis of accidental oil spills from tankers in the context of global spill trends from all sources. J. Hazard. Mater. 140, 245–256.
- Burns, K., Brinkman, D., 2011. Organic biomarkers to describe the major carbon inputs and cycling of organic matter in the central Great Barrier Reef region. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 93, 132–141.
- Burns, K.A., Garrity, S.D., Levings, S.C., 1993. How many years until mangrove ecosystems recover from catastrophic oil spills? Mar. Pollut. Bull. 26, 239–248.
- Callinan, R.B., Sammut, J., Fraser, G.C., 1996. Epizootic ulcerative syndrome (red spot disease) in estuarine fish - confirmation that exposure to acid sulfate soil runoff and an invasive aquatic fungus, Aphanomyces sp., are causative factors. In: Smith, R.J., Associates, ASSMAC (Eds.), Proceedings of the 2nd National Conference on Acid Sulfate Soils, Coffs Harbour, NSW, Australia.
- Ceccarelli, D.M., 2009. Impacts of plastic debris on Australian marine wildlife. Report for the Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts. C&R Consulting, Thuringowa, Australia, pp. 83.
- Cheam, V., Reynoldson, T., Garbai, G., Rajkumar, J., Milani, D., 2000. Local impacts of coal mines and power plants across Canada. II. Metals, organics and toxicity in sediments. Water Qual. Res. J. Can. 35, 609–631.
- Christen, V., Hickmann, S., Rechenberg, B., Fent, K., 2010. Highly active human pharmaceuticals in aquatic systems: a concept for their identification based on their mode of action. Aquat. Toxicol. 96, 167–181.
- Coates, M., Connell, D.W., Bodero, J., Miller, G.J., Back, R., 1986. Aliphatic hydrocarbons in Great Barrier Reef organisms and environment. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 23, 99–113.
- Cook, F.J., Hicks, W., Gardner, E.A., Carlin, G.D., Froggatt, D.W., 2000. Export of acidity in drainage water from acid sulfate soils. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 41, 319–326.
- Copeland, C., 2005. Cruise ship pollution: Background, laws and regulations, and key issues. CRS Report for Congress, The Library of Congress, U.S.A., pp. 25.
- Cristale, J., Katsoyiannis, A., Sweetman, A.J., Jones, K.C., Lacorte, S., 2013. Occurrence and risk assessment of organophosphorus and brominated flame retardants in the River Aire (UK). Environ. Pollut. 179, 194–200.
- Critchell, K., Grech, A., Schlaefer, J., Andutta, F.P., Lambrechts, J., Wolanski, E., et al., 2015. Modelling the fate of marine debris along a complex shoreline: Lessons from the Great Barrier Reef. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 167, 414–426.
- da Silva, E.T., Ridd, M., Klumpp, D., Ridd, P., 2004. Relative contribution of food and water to the Cd burden in *Balanus amphitrite* in an urban tidal creek discharging into the Great Barrier Reef Iagoon. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 60, 313–324.
- Dafforn, K.A., Lewis, J.A., Johnston, E.L., 2011. Antifouling strategies: history and regulation, ecological impacts and mitigation. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 62, 453–465.
- Danovaro, R., Bongiorni, L., Corinaldesi, C., Giovannelli, D., Damiani, E., Astolfi, P., et al., 2008. Sunscreens cause coral bleaching by promoting viral infections. Environ. Health Perspect. 116, 441–447.
- Daughton, C.G., 2014. The Matthew effect and widely prescribed pharmaceuticals lacking environmental monitoring: case study of anexposure-assessment vulnerability. Sci. Total Environ. 466, 315–325.
- Daughton, C.G., Ternes, T.A., 1999. Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the environment: agents of subtle change? Environ. Health Perspect. 107, 907–938.
- Dawson, K., 2002. Fish kill events and habitat losses of the Richmond River, NSW Australia: an overview. J. Coastal Res. 36, 216-221.
- Death, G., Fabricius, K., Sweatman, H., Puotinen, M., 2012. The 27-year decline of coral cover on the Great Barrier Reef and its causes. PNAS 109, 17995–17999.
- Denton, G.R.W., Burdonjones, C., 1986c. Trace-metals in fish from the Great Barrier Reef. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 17, 201–209.
- Denton, G.R.W., Burdonjones, C., 1986b. Trace-metals in corals from the Great Barrier Reef. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 17, 209–213.
- Denton, G.R.W., Burdonjones, C., 1986a. Trace-metals in algae from the Great Barrier Reef. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 17, 98–107.
- Department of Defence, 2019a. Exercise Talisman Sabre Department of Defence, Canberra, Australia. http://www.defence.gov.au/exercises/ts19/ (accessed April 2019).
- Department of Defence, 2019b. PFAS Investigation & Management Program. Department of Defence, Canberra, Australia. http://www.defence.gov.au/ environment/pfas/investigationprocess.asp (accessed April 2019).
- Department of Environment and Heritage Protection, 2012a. Eleventh update on the water quality of Port Curtis and tributaries including data collected in the week of 1 August 2012. Water Sciences Technical Report. Department of Environment and Heritage Protection, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 60.
- Department of Environment and Heritage Protection, 2012b. Update on the Quality of Sediment from Port Curtis and Tributaries. Department of Environment and Heritage Protection, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 31.
- Department of Environment and Resource Management, 2009. A study of the cumulative impacts on water quality of mining activities in the Fitzroy River Basin. Department of Environment and Resource Management, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 49.
- Department of Environment and Resource Management, 2011. Water Quality of Port Curtis and Tributaries: Supplementary Report Based on Data Collected in

the week of 26th September. Water Science Technical Report Department of Environment and Resource Management, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 39.

- Department of Natural Resources and Mines, 2017a. Queensland coal mines and advanced projects. Department of Natural Resources and Mines, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 8.
- Department of Natural Resources and Mines, 2017b. Queensland's mineral, coal and petroleum operations and resources map. Department of Natural Resources and Mines, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 3.
- Department of Science Information Technology and Innovation, 2017. Caley Valley Wetlands. Preliminary assessment of impacts to Caley Valley Wetlands from Abbot Point Coal Terminal post Tropical Cyclone Debbie. Department of Science Information Technology and Innovation, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 85.
- Department of State Development Infrastructure and Planning, 2014. Queensland Ports Strategy. Department of State Development, Infrastructure and Planning, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 36.
- Department of the Environment and Energy, 2019. National Pollutant Inventory. Department of the Environment and Energy, Canberra, Australia. http://www. npi.gov.au/ (accessed May 2019).
- Department of Transport and Main Roads, 2016. Ports. Department of Transport and Main Roads, Brisbane, Australia. http://www.tmr.qld.gov.au/Business-andindustry/Transport-sectors/Ports.aspx (accessed November 2016).
- Depledge, M.H., Billinghurst, Z., 1999. Ecological significance of endocrine disruption in marine invertebrates. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 39, 32-38.
- Det Norske Veritas Ltd, 2013. North East Shipping Risk Assessment. Report for Australian Maritime Saftey Authority. Det Norske Veritas Ltd, London, U.K., pp. 34.
- Dong, Z., Senn, D.B., Moran, R.E., Shine, J.P., 2013. Prioritizing environmental risk of prescription pharmaceuticals. Regul. Toxicol. Pharm. 65, 60-67.
- Downs, C.A., Kramarsky-Winter, E., Segal, R., Fauth, J., Knutson, S., Bronstein, O., et al., 2016. Toxicopathological effects of the sunscreen UV filter, Oxybenzone (Benzophenone-3), on coral planulae and cultured primary cells and its environmental contamination in Hawaii and the US Virgin Islands. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 70, 265-288.
- Duke, N.C., 2016. Oil spill impacts on mangroves: recommendations for operational planning and action based on a global review. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 109, 700-715.
- Fabbri, E., Franzellitti, S., 2015. Human pharmaceuticals in the marine environment: focus on exposure and biological effects in animal species. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 35, 799-812.
- Fitridge, I., Dempster, T., Guenther, J., de Nys, R., 2012. The impact and control of biofouling in marine aquaculture: a review. Biofouling 28, 649-669.
- Fong, P.P., Ford, A.T., 2014. The biological effects of antidepressants on the molluscs and crustaceans: a review. Aquat. Toxicol. 151, 4-13.
- Food Standards Australia New Zealand, 2015. Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code. Food Standards Australia New Zealand, Canberra, Australia.
- French, V.A., King, S.C., Kumar, A., Northcott, G., McGuinness, K., Parry, D., 2015. Characterisation of microcontaminants in Darwin Harbour, a tropical estuary of northern Australia undergoing rapid development. Sci. Total Environ. 536, 639-647
- French-McCay, D.P., 2002. Development and application of an oil toxicity and exposure model, OilToxEx. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 21, 2080-2094.
- French-McCay, D., Crowley, D., Rowe, J.J., Bock, M., Robinson, H., Wenning, R., et al., 2018. Comparative Risk Assessment of spill response options for a deepwater oil well blowout: part 1. Oil spill modeling. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 133, 1001-1015.
- Gall, S.C., Thompson, R.C., 2015. The impact of debris on marine life. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 92, 170–179.
- Gavrilescu, M., Demnerová, K., Aamand, J., Agathos, S., Fava, F., 2015. Emerging pollutants in the environment: present and future challenges in biomonitoring, ecological risks and bioremediation. New Biotechnol. 32, 147-156.
- Gaw, S., Thomas Kevin, V., Hutchinson, T.H., 2014, Sources, impacts and trends of pharmaceuticals in the marine and coastal environment. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 369, 20130572.
- GBRMPA, 2011. Grounding of the Shen Neng 1 on Douglas Shoal, April 2010: Impact assessment report. Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Towsnville, Australia, pp. 160.
- GBRMPA, 2014. Great Barrier Reef Outlook Report 2014. Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville, Australia, pp. 328.
- GBRMPA. 2018. Policy. Cruise ship operations within the Great Barrier Reef. Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville, Australia, pp. 8.
- GBRMPA, 2019a. Douglas Shoal environmental remediation project. Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville, Australia. http://www.gbrmpa.gov.au/ our-work/our-programs-andprojects/douglas-shoal-environmentalremediation-project (accessed March 2019).
- GBRMPA, 2019b. Tourist visits to the entire marine park. Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville, Australia. http://www.gbrmpa.gov.au/our-work/ reef-strategies/visitorcontributions/gbr\_visitation/numbers/tourist-visits-tothe-entire-marine-park (April 2019).
- Geissen, V., Mol, H., Klumpp, E., Umlauf, G., Nadal, M., van der Ploeg, M., et al., 2015. Emerging pollutants in the environment: a challenge for water resource management. Int. Soil Water Conserv. Res. 3, 57-65.
- Geraci, J.R., St. Aubin, D.J., 1990. Sea mammals and oil: confronting the risks: Academic Press, Inc., California, U.S.A., pp. 299.
- GESAMP, 2016. Sources, fate and effects of microplastics in the marine environment: Part 2 of a global assessment. A report to inform the Second United Nations Environment Assembly. In: Kershaw PJ, Rochman CM, editors. IMO/FAO/UNESCO-IOC/UNIDO/WMO/IAEA/UN/UNEP/UNDP Joint Group of

Experts on the Scientific Aspects of Marine Environmental Protection, London, U.K., pp. 220.

- GHD Pty Ltd, 2005. Port of Hay Point apron area and departure path capital dredging. Draft Environmental Impact Statement. GHD Pty Ltd, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 303.
- GHD Pty Ltd, 2009a. Gladstone Ports Corporation. Report for Western Basin dredging and disposal project. Sediment quality assessment. GHD Pty Ltd, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 527.
- GHD Pty Ltd, 2009b. Report for proposed multi cargo facility, Abbot Point: Preliminary sediment quality assessment. Prepared for North Queensland Bulk Ports by GHD. GHD Pty Ltd, Brisbane, Australia.
- GHD Pty Ltd, 2012a. Abbot Point Cumulative Impact Assessment. Technical report marine water quality. Final. GHD Pty Ltd, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 399.
- GHD Pty Ltd, 2012b. Abbot Point, Terminal 0, Terminal 2 and Terminal 3 capital dredging public environment report (EPBC 2011/6213/GBRMPA G34897.1). GHD Pty Ltd, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 35
- GHD Pty Ltd, 2012c. Abbot Point, Terminals 0, 2 and 3 capital dredging. Sediment sampling and analysis plan implementation report. GHD Pty Ltd, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 109.
- GHD Pty Ltd, 2013. Ship anchorage management in the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area. GHD Pty Ltd, Townsville, Australia, pp. 128.
- Gladstone, W., 1996. Trace metals in sediments, indicator organisms and traditional seafoods of the Torres Strait. Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, Townsville, Australia, pp. 177.
- Golding, L.A., Angel, B.M., Batley, G.E., Apte, S.C., Krassoi, R., Doyle, C.J., 2015. Derivation of a water quality guideline for aluminium in marine waters. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 34, 141–151.
- Gong, Y., Zhao, X., Cai, Z., O'Reilly, S., Hao, X., Zhao, D., 2014. A review of oil, dispersed oil and sediment interactions in the aquatic environment: influence on the fate, transport and remediation of oil spills. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 79, 16-33.
- Grandjean, P., Eriksen, M.L., Ellegaard, O., Wallin, J.A., 2011. The Matthew effect in environmental science publication: a bibliometric analysis of chemical substances in journal articles. Environ. Health 10, 96-103.
- Grech, A., Bos, M., Brodie, J., Coles, R., Dale, A., Gilbert, R., et al., 2013. Guiding principles for the improved governance of port and shipping impacts in the Great Barrier Reef. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 75, 8–20.
- Griffin, D., 2008. Pilot Investigation of the Origins and Pathways of Marine Debris Found in the Northern Australian Marine Environment. CSIRO, Hobart, Australia, p. 42.
- Groh, K.J., Carvalho, R.N., Chipman, J.K., Denslow, N.D., Halder, M., Murphy, C.A., et al., 2015. Development and application of the adverse outcome pathway framework for understanding and predicting chronic toxicity: II. A focus on growth impairment in fish. Chemosphere 120, 778-792.
- Guzman, H.M., Burns, K.A., Jackson, J.B.C., 1994. Injury, regeneration and growth of Caribbean reef corals after a major oil spill in Panama. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 105, 231-241
- Haapkylä, J., Ramade, F., Salvat, B., 2007. Oil pollution on coral reefs: a review of the state of knowledge and management needs. Vie et Milieu 57, 95-111.
- Hall, N.M., Berry, K.L.E., Rintoul, L., Hoogenboom, M.O., 2015. Microplastic ingestion by scleractinian corals. Mar. Biol. 162, 725-732.
- Hardesty, B.D., Wilcox, C., Lawson, T.J., Lansdell, M., van der Velde, T., 2014. Understanding the effects of marine debris on wildlife. CSIRO, Hobart, Australia, p. 364.
- Hardesty, B.D., Lawson, T.J., van der Velde, T., Lansdell, M., Wilcox, C., 2016. Estimating quantities and sources of marine debris at a continental scale. Front. Ecol. Environ, 1447, 1-8.
- Harford, A.J., Hogan, A.C., Tsang, J.J., Parry, D.L., Negri, A.P., Adams, M.S., et al., 2011. Effects of alumina refinery wastewater and signature metal constituents at the upper thermal tolerance of: 1. The tropical diatom Nitzschia closterium. Mar. Pollut, Bull, 62, 466-473.
- Havnes, D., 1997. Marine debris on continental islands and sand cavs in the far northern section of the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park, Australia, Mar. Pollut, Bull 34 276-279
- Haynes, D., Kwan, D., 2002. Trace metals in sediments from Torres Strait and the Gulf of Papua: concentrations, distribution and water circulation patterns, Mar. Pollut. Bull. 44, 1309-1313.
- Haynes, D., Loong, D., 2002. Antifoulant (butyltin and copper) concentrations in sediments from the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area, Australia. Environ. Pollut. 120, 391-396.
- Haynes, D., Christie, C., Marshall, P., Dobbs, K., 2002. Antifoulant concentrations at the site of the Bunga Teratai Satu grounding, Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Mar. Pollut, Bull. 44, 968-972
- Haynes, D., Johnson, J.E., 2000. Organochlorine, heavy metal and polyaromatic hydrocarbon pollutant concentrations in the Great Barrier Reef (Australia) environment: a review. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 41, 267-278.
- Haynes, D., Carter, S., Gaus, C., MüLler, J., Dennison, W., 2005. Organochlorine and heavy metal concentrations in blubber and liver tissue collected from Queensland (Australia) dugong (Dugong dugon). Mar. Pollut. Bull. 51, 361-369.
- Haynes, D., 2001. Great Barrier Reef water quality: Current issues. Great Barrier Reef
- Marine Park Authority, Townsville, Australia, pp. 97. He, T.T., Tsui, M.M.P., Tan, C.J., Ng, K.Y., Guo, F.W., Wang, L.H., et al., 2019. Comparative toxicities of four benzophenone ultraviolet filters to two life stages of two coral species. Sci. Total Environ. 651, 2391-2399.
- Heap, A.D., Sbaffi, L., 2008. Composition and distribution of seabed and suspended sediments in north and central Torres Strait, Australia. Cont. Shelf Res. 28, 2174-2187.

- Hicks, W.S., Bowman, G.M., Fitzpatrick, R.W., 1999. Environmental impact of acid sulfate soils near Cairns, Qld. Executive summary of research undertaken by CSIRO Land and Water to March 1999. CSIRO Land and Water, Canberra, Australia, pp. 11.
- Hill, R., Carter, L., Kay, R., 2012. National Wastewater Treatment Plants Database. 1st ed. Geosciences Australia, Canberra, Australia.DOI:10.4225/25/543B53F92E643 (accessed November 2016).
- Hook, S.E., Lee, K., 2015. A review of the ecotoxicological implications of oil dispersant use in Australian waters. CSIRO Oceans and Atmosphere, Lucas Height, NSW, Australia, pp. 60.
- Hornafius, J.S., Quigley, D., Luyendyk, B.P., 1999. The world's most spectacular marine hydrocarbon seeps (Coal Oil Point, Santa Barbara Channel, California): Quantification of emissions. J. Geophys. Res. Oceans 1978–2012 (104), 20703– 20711.
- Howley, C., 2012. Annan and Endeavour River Freshwater and Estuarine Water Quality Report: An Assessment of Ambient Water Quality and Effects of Land Use 2002–2009. CYMAG Environmental Inc., Cooktown Australia, p. 115.
- Hughes, T.P., Kerry, J.T., Alvarez-Noriega, M., Alvarez-Romero, J.G., Anderson, K.D., Baird, A.H., et al., 2017. Global warming and recurrent mass bleaching of corals. Nature 543, 373–377.
- Humphrey, C.A., King, S.C., Klumpp, D.W., 2007. A multibiomarker approach in barramundi (*Lates calcarifer*) to measure exposure to contaminants in estuaries of tropical North Queensland. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 54, 1569–1581.
- International Maritime Organization, 2005. Anti-Fouling Systems. International Convention on the control of harmful anti-fouling systems on ships, 2001 (AFS 2001). 2005 Edition. International Maritime Organization, London, U.K., pp. 74.
- International Maritime Organization, 2019. International Convention for the prevention of pollution from ships (MARPOL). International Maritime Organization, London, U.K. http://www.imo.org/en/About/Conventions/ ListOfConventions/Pages/International-Convention-for-the- Prevention-of-Pollution-from-Ships-%28MARPOL%29.aspx (accessed April 2019).
- Irving, P., Lee, K., 2015. Improving Australia's dispersant response strategy. 38th AMOP Technical Seminar. Environment Canada, Ontario, Ottawa, Canada, pp. 973–987.
- Islam, M.S., Tanaka, M., 2004. Impacts of pollution on coastal and marine ecosystems including coastal and marine fisheries and approach for management: a review and synthesis. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 48, 624–649.
- Jackson, J.B.C., Cubit, J.D., Keller, B.D., Batista, V., Burns, K., Caffey, H.M., et al., 1989. Ecological effects of a major oil spill on Panamanian coastal marine communities. Science 243, 37–44.
- Jaffrennou, C., Giamarchi, P., Cabon, J.Y., Stephan, L., Burel-Deschamps, L., Bautin, F., et al., 2007. Simulations of accidental coalimmersion. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 54, 1932–1939.
- Jensen, L.H., Motti, C.A., Garm, A.L., Tonin, H., Kroon, F.J., 2019. Sources, distribution and fate of microfibres on the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Sci. Rep. 9, 9021.
- Johnson, R., Bustin, R.M., 2006. Coal dust dispersal around a marine coal terminal (1977–1999), British Columbia: the fate of coal dust in the marine environment. Int. J. Coal Geol. 68, 57–69.
- Johnston, S.G., Keene, A.F., Burton, E.D., Bush, R.T., Sullivan, L.A., McElnea, A.E., et al., 2010. Arsenic mobilization in a seawater inundated acid sulfate soil. Environ. Sci. Technol. Lett. 44, 1968–1973.
- Jones, G.B., 1992. Effect of *Trichodesmium* blooms on water quality in the Great Barrier Reef lagoon. In: Carpenter, E.J., Capone, D.G., Rueter, J.G. (Eds.), Marine Pelagic Cyanobacteria: *Trichodesmium* and other Diazotrophs. Springer, Netherlands, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp. 273–287.
- Jones, R.J., Kerswell, A.P., 2003. Phytotoxicity of Photosystem II (PSII) herbicides to coral. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 261, 149–159.
- Jones, M.A., Stauber, J., Apte, S., Simpson, S., Vicente-Beckett, V., Johnson, R., et al., 2005. A risk assessment approach tocontaminants in Port Curtis, Queensland, Australia. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 51, 448–458.
- Kannan, K., Tanabe, S., Iwata, H., Tatsukawa, R., 1995. Butyltins in muscle and liver of fish collected from certain Asian and Oceanian countries. Environ. Pollut. 90, 279–290.
- Kaplan, S., 2013. Review: pharmacological pollution in water. Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol. 43, 1–44.
- Keene, A.F., Johnston, S.G., Bush, R.T., Burton, E.D., Sullivan, L.A., 2010. Reactive trace element enrichment in a highly modified, tidally inundated acid sulfate soil wetland: East Trinity, Australia. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 60, 620–626.
- Kennish, M.J., 1997. Practical Handbook of Estuarine and Marine Pollution. CRC Press Inc, Boca Raton, p. 524.
- King, O.C., van de Merwe, J.P., McDonald, J.A., Leusch, F.D.L., 2015. Concentrations of levonorgestrel and ethinylestradiol in wastewater effluents: is the progestin also cause for concern? Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 35, 1378–1385.
- Kjeldsen, P., Barlaz, M.A., Rooker, A.P., Baun, A., Ledin, A., Christensen, T.H., 2002. Present and long-term composition of MSW landfill leachate: a review. Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol. 32, 297–336.
- Kleinow, K.M., Melancom, M.J., Lech, J.J., 1987. Biotransformation and induction: implications for toxicity, bioaccumulation and monitoring of environmental xenobiotuics in fish. Environ. Health Perspect. 71, 105–119.
- Konstantinou, I.K., Albanis, T.A., 2004. Worldwide occurrence and effects of antifouling paint booster biocides in the aquatic environment: a review. Environ. Int. 30, 235–248.
- Kortenkamp, A., 2011. Are cadmium and other heavy metal compouns acting as endocrine disruptors? Metal Ions Life Sci. 8, 305–317.
- Kroon, F.J., 2005. Behavioural avoidance of acidified water by juveniles of four commercial fish and prawn species with migratory life stages. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 285, 193–204.

- Kroon, F.J., Berry, K.L.E., Brinkman, D.L., Davis, A., King, O., Kookana, R., et al., 2015. Identification, impacts, and prioritisation of emerging contaminants present in the GBR and Torres Strait marine environments. Report to the National Environmental Science Programme. Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Limited, Cairns, Australia, pp. 149.
- Kroon, F.J., Kuhnert, P.M., Henderson, B.L., Wilkinson, S.N., Kinsey-Henderson, A., Abbott, B., et al., 2012. River loads of suspended solids, nitrogen, phosphorus and herbicides delivered to the Great Barrier Reef lagoon. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 65, 167–181.
- Kroon, F.J., Thorburn, P., Schaffelke, B., Whitten, S., 2016. Towards protecting the Great Barrier Reef from land-based pollution. Glob. Change Biol. 22, 1985–2002.
- Kroon, F.J., Motti, C.E., Jensen, L.H., Berry, K.L.E., 2018. Classification of marine microdebris: a review and case study on fish from the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Sci. Rep. 8, 16422.
- Lamb, J.B., Williamson, D.H., Russ, G.R., Willis, B.L., 2015. Protected areas mitigate diseases of reefbuilding corals by reducing damage from fishing. Ecol. Soc. 96, 2555–2567.
- Lamb, J.B., Willis, B.L., Fiorenza, E.A., Couch, C.S., Howard, R., Rader, D.N., et al., 2018. Plastic waste associated with disease on coral reefs. Science 359, 460–462.
- Langangen, O., Olsen, E., Stige, L.C., Ohlberger, J., Yaragina, N.A., Vikebo, F.B., et al., 2017. The effects of oil spills on marine fish: Implications of spatial variation in natural mortality. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 119, 102–109.
- Lawrey, E., Stewart, M., 2016. Mapping the Torres Strait Reef and Island features. Extending the GBR features (GBRMPA) dataset. Report to the National Environmental Science Programme. Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Limited Cairns, Australia, pp. 103.
- Loya, Y., Rinkevich, B., 1980. Effects of oil pollution on coral reef communities. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 2, 167–180.
- Maher, W.A., Aislabie, J., 1992. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in nearshore marine sediments of Australia. Sci. Total Environ. 112, 143–164.
- Maritime Safety Queensland, 2019. Vessel sewage discharge restriction maps. Maritime Safety Queensland, Brisbane, Australia. https://www.msq.qld.gov.au/ Marine-pollution/Sewage/Vessel-sewagedischarge-restriction-maps#exmenu (accessed April 2019).
- Marshall, P., Christie, C., Dobbs, K., Green, A., Haynes, D., Brodie, J., et al., 2002. Grounded ship leaves TBT-based antifoulant on the Great Barrier Reef: an overview of the environmental response. Spill Sci. Technol. Bull. 7, 215–221.
- Masoner, J.R., Kolpin, D.W., Furlong, E.T., Cozzarelli, I.M., Gray, J.L., Schwab, E.A., 2014. Contaminants of emerging concern in fresh leachate from landfills in the conterminous United States. Environ. Sci. Processes Impacts 16, 2335–2354.
- Masura, J., Baker, J.E., Foster, G., Arthur, C., 2015. Laboratory methods for the analysis of microplastics in the marine environment: recommendations for quantifying synthetic particles in waters and sediments. NOAA Marine Debris Division, Silver Spring, U.S.A., pp. 39.
- Matranga, V., Corsi, I., 2012. Toxic effects of engineered nanoparticles in the marine environment: model organisms and molecular approaches. Mar. Environ. Res. 76, 32–40.
- McClurg, J.I., Powell, B., Morrison, D., Hampson, R.J., 2009a. Acid sulfate soil water quality improvement plan. Far North Queensland. Department of Natural Resources and Water, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 95.
- McClurg, J.I., Powell, B., Norman, P., Hampson, R.J., 2009b. Acid sulfate soils water quality improvement plan. Mackay - Whitsunday. Department of Environment and Resource Management, Coorparoo, Australia, pp. 144.
- Melville, F., Andersen, L.E., Jolley, D.F., 2009. The Gladstone (Australia) oil spill impacts on intertidal areas: baseline and six months post-spill. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 263–271.
- Melvin, S.D., 2015. Oxidative stress, energy storage, and swimming performance of *Limnodynastes peronii* tadpoles exposed to a sub-lethal pharmaceutical mixture throughout development. Chemosphere 150, 790–797.
- Melvin, S.D., Cameron, M.C., Lanctôt, C.M., 2014. Individual and mixture toxicity of pharmaceuticals naproxen, carbamazepine, and sulfamethoxazole to Australian striped marsh frog tadpoles (*Limnodynastes peronii*). J. Toxicol. Environ. Health A 77, 337–345.
- Minguez, L., Pedelucq, J., Farcy, E., Ballandonne, C., Budzinski, H., Halm-Lemeille, M.-P., 2014. Toxicities of 48 pharmaceuticals and their freshwater and marine environmental assessment in northwestern France. Environ. Sci. Pollut.Res., 1– 10
- Mitchelmore, C.L., He, K., Gonsior, M., Hain, E., Heyes, A., Clark, C., et al., 2019. Occurrence and distribution of UV-filters and other anthropogenic contaminants in coastal surface water, sediment, and coral tissue from Hawaii. Sci. Total Environ. 670, 398–410.
- Molins-Delgado, D., Diaz-Cruz, M.S., Introduction, B.D., 2015. Personal care products in the aquatic environment. In: Diaz-Cruz MS, Barcelo D, editors. Personal Care Products in the Aquatic Environment. In: The Handbook of Environmental. Chemistry. Springer Verlag, pp. 1–34.
- Moore, S.F., Dwyer, R.L., 1974. Effects of oil on marine organisms: a critical assessment of published data. Water Res. 8, 819–827.
- Mortimer, M.R., 2000. Pesticide and trace metal concentrations in Queensland estuarine crabs. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 41, 359–366.
- Mortimer, M., Holmes, M., Warne, M.S.J., Vardy, S., Lindemann, S., Playford, J., et al., 2013. Postflood water quality monitoring in Gladstone harbour and waterways—August 2013. Department of Science, Information Technology, Innovation and the Arts, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 13.
- Mortimer, M., 2004. Tributyltin (TBT) analysis protocol developpment and current contaminantion assessment. Environmental Protection Agency, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 29.

- Naidoo, G., Chirkoot, D., 2004. The effects of coal dust on photosynthetic performance of the mangrove, *Avicennia marina* in Richards Bay, South Africa. Environ. Pollut. 127, 359–366.
- National Marine Science Plan 2015-2025, 2015. Driving the development of Australia's blue economy. National Marine Science Committee, Canberra, Australia, pp. 47.
- National Research Council, 2005. Oil spill dispersants: Efficacy and effects. Washington, D.C., U.S.A.: The National Academies Press, Washington, D.C., U.S. A., pp. 396.
- Neale, P.A., Jämting, Å., Escher, B.I., Herrmann, J., 2013. A review of the detection, fate and effects of engineered nanomaterials in wastewater treatment plants. Water Sci. Technol. 68, 1440–1453.
- Negri, A.P., Heyward, A.J., 2000. Inhibition of fertilization and larval metamorphosis of the coral Acropora millepora (Ehrenberg, 1834) by petroleum products. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 41, 420–427.
- Negri, A.P., Heyward, A.J., 2001. Inhibition of coral fertilisation and larval metamorphosis by tributyltin and copper. Mar. Environ. Res. 51, 17–27.
- Negri, A., Marshall, P., 2009. TBT contamination of remote marine environments: Ship groundings and ice-breakers as sources of organotins in the Great Barrier Reef and Antarctica. J. Environ. Manage. 90 (Supplement 1), S31–S40.
- Negri, A., Mortimer, M., Carter, S., Muller, J.F., 2009. Persistent organochlorines and metals in estuarine mud crabs of the Great Barrier Reef. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 765–786.
- Negri, A.P., Smith, L.D., Webster, N.S., Heyward, A.J., 2002. Understanding shipgrounding impacts on a coral reef: potential effects of anti-foulant paint contamination on coral recruitment. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 44, 111–117.
- Negri, A.P., Flores, F., Mercurio, P., Mueller, J.F., Collier, C.J., 2015. Lethal and sublethal chronic effects of the herbicide diuron on seagrass. Aquat. Toxicol. 165, 73–83.
- Negri, A.P., Brinkman, D.L., Flores, F., Botté, E., Jones, R.J., Webster, N.S., 2016. Acute ecotoxicology of natural oil and gas condensate to coral reef larvae. Sci. Rep. 6, 21153.
- Nordborg, F.M., Flores, F., Brinkman, D.L., Agusti, S., Negri, A.P., 2018. Phototoxic effects of two common marine fuels on the settlement success of the coral *Acropora tenuis*. Sci. Rep. 8, 8635.
- North Queensland Bulk Ports Corporation, 2012. Environmental management plan Port of Abbot Point. North Queensland Bulk Ports Corporation, Australia, pp. 60. North-East Shipping Management Group, 2014. North-East Shipping Management
- Plan. Australian Maritime Safety Authority, Canberra, Australia, pp. 132.
- O'Malley, E., O'Brien, J.W., Verhagen, R, Mueller, J.F., 2020. Annual release of selected UV filters via effluent from wastewater treatment plants in Australia. Chemosphere. Submitted for publication.
- Owen, R., Knap, A., Toaspern, M., Carbery, K., 2002. Inhibition of coral photosynthesis by the antifouling herbicide Irgarol 1051. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 44, 623–632.
- Owen, R., Knap, A., Ostrander, N., Carbery, K., 2003. Comparative acute toxicity of herbicides to photosynthesis of coral zooxanthellae. B. Environ. Contam. Tox. 70, 541–548.
- Pal, A., Gin, K.Y.-H., Lin, A.Y.-C., Reinhard, M., 2010. Impacts of emerging organic contaminants on freshwater resources: review of recent occurrences, sources, fate and effects. Sci. Total Environ. 408, 6062–6069.
- Pathiratne, A., Kroon, F.J., 2016. Using species sensitivity distribution approach to assess the risks of commonly detected agricultural pesticides to Australia's tropical freshwater ecosystems. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 35, 419–428.
- Peterson, C.H., Rice, S.D., Short, J.W., Esler, D., Bodkin, J.L., Ballachey, B.E., et al., 2003. Long-term ecosystem response to the Exxon Valdez oil spill. Science 302, 2082– 2086.
- Petrov, A.A., 2012. Petroleum Hydrocarbons. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, Germany, p. 256.
- PGM Environment and Eco Logical Australia, 2014. Strategic Environmental Assessment of Defence activities in the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area, 2014: Update report. Prepared for the Department of Defence. Eco Logical Australia Pty Ltd and Polglaze Griffin Miller & Associates Pty Ltd, Perth, Australia, pp. 51.
- PGM Environment, 2012. Great Barrier Reef shipping: review of environmental implications. PGM Environment, Safety Bay, Western Australia, Australia, pp. 222.
- Piatt, J.F., Lensink, C.J., Butler, W., Kendziorek, M., Nysewander, D.R., 1990. Immediate impact of the 'Exxon Valdez' oil spill on marine birds. Auk 107, 387–397.
- Plaganyi, E.E., van Putten, I., Hutton, T., Deng, R.A., Dennis, D., Pascoe, S., et al., 2013. Integrating indigenous livelihood and lifestyle objectives in managing a natural resource. PNAS 110, 3639–3644.
- Plunkett, G., 2003. Chemical warfare agent sea dumping off Australia. Revised and updated edition 2003. Department of Defence, Canberra, Australia, pp. 44.
- Port Curtis Integrated Monitoring Program Inc., 2016. Port Curtis Integrated Monitoring Program, November 2012-August 2015. Port Curtis Integrated Monitoring Program Inc., Gladstone, Australia.
- Port of Townsville Limited, AECOM Australia, BMT WBM Pty Ltd., 2013. Port expansion project: environmental impact statement. Port of Townsville Limited, Townsville, Australia, pp.1311.
- Ports North, 2015. Cairns shipping development project. Draft: Environmental Impact Statement. Ports North, Cairns, Australia.
- Powell, B., Martens, M., 2005. A review of acid sulfate soil impacts, actions and policies that impact on water quality in Great Barrier Reef catchments, including a case study on remediation at East Trinity. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 51, 149–164.

- Prange, J.A., Dennison, W.C., 2000. Physiological responses of five seagrass species to trace metals. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 41, 327–336.
- Queensland Government, 2016a. Abandoned mines. Queensland Government, Brisbane, Australia. <u>https://www.qld.gov.au/environment/land/abandonedmines/about/</u> (accessed November 2016).
- Queensland Government, 2016b. Marine pollution—2002 to 2016. Summary of oil spills and other marine pollution events reported to Maritime Safety Queensland from 2002 to 2016. Queensland Government, Brisbane, Australia. https://data.qld.gov.au/dataset/marine-oil-spillsdata/resource/280b7e6e-61b5-4502-b365-96bafea2950a (accessed August 2017).
- Queensland Government, 2016d. Ship responsible for Cape Upstart oil spill identified. Queensland Government, Brisbane, Australia. http://statements. qld.gov.au/Statement/2016/7/28/ship-responsibleforidentified (accessed March 2019).
- Queensland Government, 2016e. Water monitoring information portal. Queensland Government, Brisbane, Australia. https://water-monitoring.information. qld.gov.au/host.htm (accessed March 2016).
- Queensland Government, 2017a. 2017 calendar year—Coal sales statistics. Queensland Government, Brisbane, Australia. https://data.qld.gov.au/dataset/ annual-coal-statistics/resource/c522fcaa-89d7-4c76- bd6e-064d39617d38 (accessed March 2019).
- Queensland Government, 2017b. Queensland Land Use Mapping Program (QLUMP). Queensland Government, Brisbane, Australia. https://www.qld.gov.au/ environment/land/management/mapping/statewide-monitoring/qlump (accessed April 2017).
- Queensland Government, 2018. Abbot Point Bulkcoal charged over Abbot Point sediment water discharge. Queensland Government, Brisbane, Australia. https://www.des.qld.gov.au/ourdepartment/ news-media/mediareleases/2018-09-05-abbot-point-bulkcoal-charged-over-abbot-pointsedimentdischarge (accessed October 2019).
- Queensland Government, 2019a. Abbot Point water sampling results received. Queensland Government, Brisbane, Australia. https://www.des.qld.gov. au/mediareleases/2019-02-13-abbot-point-water-samplingresults-received. html (accessed March 2019).
- Queensland Government, 2019b. Perfluorinated chemical site contamination. Queensland Government, Brisbane, Australia. https://www.qld.gov.au/ environment/pollution/management/disasters/investigationpfas (April 2019).
- Rayment, G.E., Barry, G.A., 2000. Indicator tissues for heavy metal monitoring additional attributes. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 41, 353–358.
- Reed, M., Johansen, Ø., Brandvik, P.J., Daling, P., Lewis, A., Fiocco, R., et al., 1999. Oil spill modeling towards the close of the 20th century: overview of the state of the art. Spill Sci. Technol. Bull. 5, 3–16.
- Reichelt, A.J., Jones, G.B., 1994. Trace metals as tracers of dredging activity in Cleveland Bay - field and laboratory studies. Aust. J. Mar. Freshw. Res. 45, 1237–1257.
- Reichelt-Brushett, A.J., Harrison, P.L., 1999. The effect of copper, zinc and cadmium on fertilization success of gametes from scleractinian reef corals. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 38, 182–187.
- Reichelt-Brushett, A.J., Harrison, P.L., 2000. The effect of copper on the settlement success of larvae from the scleractinian coral *Acropora tenuis*. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 41, 385–391.
- Reichelt-Brushett, J.A., Harrison, L.P., 2004. Development of a sublethal test to determine the effects of copper and lead on scleractinian coral larvae. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 47, 40–55.
- Reichelt-Brushett, A.J., Harrison, P.L., 2005. The effect of selected trace metals on the fertilization success of several scleractinian coral species. Coral Reefs 24, 524– 534.
- Reichelt-Brushett, A., Hudspith, M., 2016. The effects of metals of emerging concern on the fertilization success of gametes of the tropical scleractinian coral *Platygyra daedalea*. Chemosphere 150, 398–406.
- Reichelt-Brushett, A.J., Michalek-Wagner, K., 2005. Effects of copper on the fertilization success of the soft coral *Lobophytum compactum*. Aquat. Toxicol. 74, 280–284.
- Reisser, J., Shaw, J., Wilcox, C., Hardesty, B.D., Proietti, M., Thums, M., et al., 2013. Marine plastic pollution in waters around Australia: characteristics, concentrations, and pathways. PLoS One 8, e80466.
- Reisser, J., Shaw, J., Hallegraeff, G., Proietti, M., Barnes, D.K., Thums, M., et al., 2014. Millimetersized marine plastics: a new pelagic habitat for microorganisms and invertebrates. PLoS One 9, e100289.
- Robles-Molina, J., Lara-Ortega, F.J., Gilbert-Lopez, B., Garcia-Reyes, J.F., Molina-Diaz, A., 2014. Multi-residue method for the determination of over 400 priority and emerging pollutants in water and wastewater by solid-phase extraction and liquid chromatography-time-of-flight mass spectrometry. J. Chromatogr. A 1350, 30–43.
- Rudd, M.A., Ankley, G.T., Boxall, A.B.A., Brooks, B.W., 2014. International scientists' priorities for research on pharmaceutical and personal care products in the environment. Integr. Environ. Assess. Manage. 10, 576–587.
- Sánchez-Avila, J., Bonet, J., Velasco, G., Lacorte, S., 2009. Determination and occurrence of phthalates, alkylphenols, bisphenol A, PBDEs, PCBs and PAHs in an industrial sewage grid discharging to a municipal wastewater treatment plant. Sci. Total Environ. 407, 4157–4167.
- Sandstrom, M.W., 1988. Aliphatic hydrocarbons in surface sediments from the North Queensland coast and Great Barrier Reef: effects of tropical cyclone Winifred. Org. Geochem. 12, 445–454.
- Sarmah, A.K., Meyer, M.T., Boxall, A.B., 2006. A global perspective on the use, sales, exposure pathways, occurrence, fate and effects of veterinary antibiotics (VAs) in the environment. Chemosphere 65, 725–759.

- Sauvé, S., Desrosiers, M., 2014. A review of what is an emerging contaminant. Chem. Cent. J. 8, 15.
- Scarlett, A., Donkin, P., Fileman, T.W., Morris, R.J., 1999. Occurrence of the antifouling herbicide, Irgarol 1051, within coastal-water seagrasses from Queensland, Australia. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 38, 687–691.
- Schiel, D.R., Ross, P.M., Battershill, C.N., 2016. Environmental effects of the MV Rena shipwreck: cross-disciplinary investigations of oil and debris impacts on a coastal ecosystem. New Zeal. J. Mar. Freshw. Res. 50, 1–9.
- Schulz, M., Clemens, T., Forster, H., Harder, T., Fleet, D., Gaus, S., et al., 2015. Statistical analyses of the results of 25 years of beach litter surveys on the south-eastern North Sea coast. Mar. Environ. Res. 109, 21–27.
- Scott, P.D., Bartkow, M., Blockwell, S.J., Coleman, H.M., Khan, S.J., Lim, R., et al., 2014. A national survey of trace organic contaminants in Australian rivers. J. Environ. Qual. 43, 1702–1712.
- Sedlak, D., 2017. Three Lessons for the Microplastics Voyage. Environ. Sci. Technol. 51, 7747–7748.
- Shaw, P.M., Johns, R., 1985. Organic geochemical studies of a recent Inner Great Barrier Reef sediment—I. Assessment of input sources. Org. Geochem. 8, 147– 156.
- Smith, J.D., Bagg, J., Bycroft, B.M., 1984. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the clam *Tridacna Maxima* from the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Environ. Sci. Technol. 18, 353–358.
- Smith, J.D., Hauser, J.Y., Bagg, J., 1985. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in sediments of the Great Barrier Reef region, Australia. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 16, 110.
- Smith, J.D., Bagg, J., Sin, Y.O., 1987. Aromatic hydrocarbons in seawater, sediments and clams from Green Island, Great Barier Reef, Australia. Aust. J. Mar. Freshw. Res. 38, 501–510.
- Smith, L.D., Negri, A.P., Philipp, E., Webster, N.S., Heyward, A.J., 2003. The effects of antifoulantpaint- contaminated sediments on coral recruits and branchlets. Mar. Biol. 143, 651–657.
- Stumm, W., Morgan, J.J., 1996. Aquatic Chemistry: Chemical Equilibria and Rates in Natural Waters. John Wiley & Sons Inc, New York, U.S.A, p. 1022.
- Sweet, L.E., Revill, A.T., Strzelecki, J., Hook, S.E., Morris, J.M., Roberts, A.P., 018. Photo-induced toxicity following exposure to crude oil and ultraviolet radiation in 2 Australian fishes. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 37, 1359–1366.
- Tangaroa Blue Foundation, 2015. Australian Marine Debris Database, Custom Dataset Great Barrier Reef 1997–2015. Tangaroa Blue Foundation, Port Douglas, Australia.
- Tangaroa Blue Foundation, 2014. Marine Debris Identification Manual. Tangaroa Blue Foundation, Port Douglas, Australia, pp. 78.
- Therapeutic Goods Administration, 2016. Australian regulatory guidelines for sunscreens. Version 1.1. Therapeutic Goods Administration, Canberra, Australia, pp. 43.
- Thomas, K.V., 2001. The environmental fate and behaviour of antifouling paint booster biocides: a review. Biofouling 17, 73–86.
- Toki, B., Baheerathan, R., Richardson, D., Bothelho, D., 2012. Abbot Point Cumulative Impact Assessment Technical Report: Assessment of potential impacts of coal dust on the marine environment at the Port of Abbot Point, Abbot Point Working Group, BMT WBM Pty Ltd, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 91.
- Transportation Research Board and National Research Council, 2003. Oil in the sea III: inputs, fates, and effects. The National Academies Press, Washington D.C., U. S.A., pp. 277.
- Trenfield, M.A., van Dam, J.W., Harford, A.J., Parry, D., Streten, C., Gibb, K., et al., 2015. Aluminium, gallium, and molybdenum toxicity to the tropical marine microalga *Isochrysis galbana*. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 34, 1833–1840.
- Trewin, D., Pink, B., 2006. Australian and New Zealand Standard Industrial Classification (ANZSIC). Australian Bureau of Statistics, Canberra, Australia, pp. 513.
- Tripodi, N., Limpus, C.J., 2010. Assessment of the Fitzroy River aquatic ecosystem following the 2008 discharge of coal mine-affected floodwaters from the Ensham coal mine. Departement of Environment and Resource Management, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 133.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Emerging Contaminants Workgroup, 2008. White paper. Aquatic life criteria for contaminants of emerging concern. Part I General challenges and recommendations. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, U.S.A., pp. 86.

- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 1998. Guidelines for ecological risk assessment. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington DC, U.S.A., pp. 188.
- United Nations Environment Programme and the World Health Organization, 2013. State of the Science of Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals - 2012. In: Bergman Å, Heindel JJ, Jobling S, Kidd KA, Zoeller RT, editors. UNEP and WHO, Geneva, Switzerland, pp. 289.
- United Nations Environment Programme, 2009. Marine litter: A global challenge. UNEP, Nairobi, Kenya, pp. 234.
- van Dam, J.W., Trenfield, M.A., Harries, S.J., Streten, C., Harford, A.J., Parry, D., et al., 2016. A novel bioassay using the barnacle *Amphibalanus amphitrite* to evaluate chronic effects of aluminium, gallium and molybdenum in tropical marine receiving environments. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 112, 427–435.
- Vance, M.E., Kuiken, T., Vejerano, E.P., McGinnis, S.P., Hochella Jr., M.F., Rejeski, D., et al., 2015. Nanotechnology in the real world: Redeveloping the nanomaterial consumer products inventory. Beilstein J. Nanotechnol. 6, 1769–1780.
- Vicente-Beckett, V., Shearer, D., Munksgaard, N., Hancock, G., Morrison, H., 2006. Metal and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon contaminants in benthic sediments of Port Curtis. Technical Report 83. Cooperative Research Centre for Coastal Zone, Estuary and Waterway Management Gladstone, Australia, pp. 76.
- Victor, S., Richmond, R.H., 2005. Effect of copper on fertilization success in the reef coral Acropora surculosa. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 50, 1448–1451.
- Vision Environment QLD, 2011. Port Curtis ecosystem health report 2008-2010. Port Curtis Integrated Monitoring Program, Gladstone, Australia, pp. 68.
- Voulvoulis, N., Scrimshaw, M.D., Lester, J.N., 1999. Alternative antifouling biocides. Appl. Organomet. Chem. 13, 135–143.
- Walker, G.S., Brunskill, G.J., 1996. Detection of anthropogenic and natural mercury in sediments from the Great Barrier Reef Iagoon. The Great Barrier Reef Science, Use and Management, Vol. 2. Great Barrier Marine Park Authority, Townsville, Australia, pp. 30–33.
- Ward, C.R., 1984. Coal Geology and Coal Technology. Blackwell Scientific Publications, p. 345.
- Waterhouse, J., Brodie, J., Wolanski, E., Petus, C., Higham, W., Armstrong, T., 2013. Hazard assessment of water quality threats to Torres Strait marine waters and ecosystems. Report to the National Environmental Research Program. Reef and Rainforest Research Centre Limited, Cairns, Australia, pp. 76.
- Waterhouse, J., Brodie, J., Tracey, D., Smith, R., Vandergragt, M., Collier, C., et al., 2017. 2017 Scientific Consensus Statement: Land use impacts on Great Barrier Reef water quality and ecosystem condition. Chapter 3: The risk from anthropogenic pollutants to Great Barrier Reef coastal and marine ecosystems. Reef Water Quality Protection Plan Secretariat, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 184.
- Waters, D.K., Carroll, C., Ellis, R., Hateley, L., McCloskey, G.L., Packett, R., et al., 2014. Modelling reductions of pollutant loads due to improved management practices in the Great Barrier Reef catchments – Whole of GBR. 1. Department of Natural Resources and Mines, Toowoomba, Australia, pp. 120.
- WBM, 2005. Coal in marine sediments at Abbot Point. Technical Appendix to the Abbot Point Stage 3 Expansion EIS. Report prepared for Ports Corporation Queensland. WBM, Brisbane, Australia.
- Webster, N.S., Webb, R.I., Ridd, M.J., Hill, R.T., Negri, A.P., 2001. The effects of copper on the microbial community of a coral reef sponge. Environ. Microbiol. 3, 19– 31.
- Wolanski, E., Lambrechts, J., Thomas, C., Deleersnijder, E., 2013. The net water circulation through Torres strait. Cont. Shelf Res. 64, 66–74.
- World Health Organization, 2003. Introduction to drug utilization research. WHO, Oslo, Norway, p. 49.
- World Wildlife Fund, 2016. Rivers to reef to turtles project technical report August 2016. WWF, Sydney, Australia, pp. 21.
- Wright, S.L., Thompson, R.C., Galloway, T.S., 2013. The physical impacts of microplastics on marine organisms: a review. Environ. Pollut. 178, 483–492.
- Yebra, D.M., Kiil, S., Dam-Johansen, K., 2004. Antifouling technology past, present and future steps towards efficient and environmentally friendly antifouling coatings. Prog. Org. Coat. 50, 75–104.
- Zhu, Y.G., Zhao, Y., Li, B., Huang, C.L., Zhang, S.Y., Yu, S., et al., 2017. Continental-scale pollution of estuaries with antibiotic resistance genes. Nat. Microbiol., 2